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Glossary
CCG

Clinical Commissioning Group

A&E

Accident and Emergency

CETV

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value

CHC

Continuing Healthcare

CQR

Clinical Quality Review

CQUIN

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation

CSU

Arden Commissioning Support Unit

EDS

Equality Delivery System

EIA

Equality Impact Assessment

FReM

Financial Reporting Expenditure Measures

GP

General Practitioner

HR

Human Resources

HWBB

Health and Well-Being Board

IAPT

Improved Access to Psychological Therapies

JSNA

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

MRSA

Meticillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus

NHS

National Health Service

PCT

Primary Care Trust

QIPP

Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention

RBAF

Redditch and Bromsgrove Advisory Forum

RTT

Referral to Treatment

SAR

Subject Access Request

SDMP

Sustainable Development Management Plan

SI

Serious Incident

SUI

Serious Untoward Incident

VCS

Voluntary and Community Sector

VSM

Very Senior Manager
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1. Member Practices’ Introduction
NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has been operating as
a statutory body since 1st April 2013, established under the Health and Social Care Act 2012,
having been licensed without conditions in January 2013. There have been no changes to
this during the year.
Two amendments to the Constitution were agreed during the year, one in relation to the
membership of the Governing Body, reducing the number of GP members from seven to
five, and the second amending the way in which GP members are elected to the Governing
Body. These changes have been reflected in the Constitution documentation available on
the CCG website.
During the course of the year the CCG has, either working by itself or in conjunction with its
local partners and stakeholders, successfully delivered a range of service improvements and
innovations. Amongst these have been:
Establishment, approval of, and implementation of the Quality Strategy.
Agreement on a county wide Urgent Care Strategy, which has been developed jointly
with stakeholders and partners and was the subject of wide public engagement.
Working jointly with partners, completed the first stage of the Future of Acute Hospital
Services in Worcestershire Review and established second phase work which is
being taken forward into 2014/15.
Worked closely with colleagues in neighbouring CCGs, provider trusts and the local
authority in developing a comprehensive and innovative approach to the introduction
and scope of the Better Care Fund. This work has been recognised nationally with
Worcestershire being identified as one of only 14 national pioneer sites across the
country.
The CCG has expanded its innovative work on developing ‘Virtual Ward’ services to
prevent unnecessary hospital admissions. This will continue to form a key part of its
strategic plans in the coming years and there are plans to extend this into a more
widely based local service to support the extension of primary and community based
services to prevent referral/admission to secondary care. This will include the
following:
o

Maximise the domiciliary element of ‘Virtual Ward’, to identify and support the
most vulnerable/at risk patients to avoid unnecessary illness and admissions;

o

Extend ‘in reach’ beyond the Accident and Emergency (A&E) Department and
the Medical Assessment Unit to other in-patients, in order to facilitate earlier
discharge;

o

Establish an Integrated Community Hub at the Princess of Wales Community
Hospital in Bromsgrove, providing an Assessment, Diagnosis and Treatment
Centre for same day diagnostics and maximise the Minor Injuries Unit to
accommodate ambulatory care pathways.

The CCG recognises that, whilst being a locally-based clinically-led organisation which is
well placed to identify the health needs of the local population and the type of support and
services required, there are also a wide range of factors which affect and impact on
population health and well-being - many of these involve wider public health, environmental,
or societal determinants. As such the CCG has worked closely with a wide range of partners
and stakeholders to fully maximise its impact on the health of the local population. This work
takes place at both CCG level and county level and this multi partner approach is facilitated
through the Worcestershire Health and Well-being Board, the membership of which includes
both the CCG Chair/Clinical Leader and the Chief Officer.
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The CCG has been an active player in supporting the Health and Well-being Board Strategy
for the period 2013 – 2018, whilst in turn the Health and Well-being Board priorities and the
county’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) have been used to inform the selection
of local priorities and in identifying areas of need.
With the publication of NHS England’s planning guidance for 2014/15 onwards (Everyone
Counts: Planning for Patients 2014/15–2018/19, the CCG has been actively involved in the
development of Worcestershire’s first Five Year Health and Care Strategy to cover the
period 2014/15-2018/19. The development and production of the Five Year Strategy,
including extensive engagement with partners, is continuing and will be submitted in line with
the national timescale in June 2014.
Providing support to general practice has been reviewed throughout 2013/14 and refreshed
in partnership with the member practices. The review included reflections upon the existing
support mechanisms for ‘Zoning’ (peer review/support), the monthly Redditch and
Bromsgrove Advisory Forum (RBAF) and weekly communications. In 2014/15 support
systems will be strengthened and a review of quarterly evening meetings and Annual Priority
Setting will maximise the support available to Primary Care.

2. Strategic Report
2.1

Nature, objectives and strategies of the Clinical Commissioning Croup

NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove Clinical Commissioning Group was licensed in full in
January 2013 and was established as a statutory body on 1st April 2013.
The geographical area covered by NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG is predominantly
within the geographic boundaries of Redditch Borough Council and Bromsgrove District
Council, located within North East Worcestershire and within the Worcestershire County
Council boundary. This includes the towns of Redditch, Bromsgrove, Hollywood, Barnt
Green and Wythall. The 22 member practices have a total registered population of just over
170,000, which is approximately 30% of the overall population of Worcestershire.
The CCG management team operates from two locations, with its head office based in
Bromsgrove and the locality office in one of the GP premises in Redditch.
Clinical leadership and involvement, at Governing Body level and in areas of service
redesign, innovation, and assurance, is covered by clinicians from the member practices
within the CCG.
The executive leadership and internal management resource capacity works severally
across NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG and NHS Wyre Forest CCG, with a small CCG
specific locality team. There are also collaborative arrangements in place with NHS South
Worcestershire CGG covering commissioning and service redesign, strategic medicines
management, communications, specialist safeguarding roles, infection prevention and
control and tissue viability. Arden Commissioning Support (CSU) is contracted to deliver a
range of services in relation to finance, business intelligence, contracting, procurement,
corporate functions (Human Resources, Information Governance, Complaints Management,
Equality and Diversity, Health and Safety), Information and Communications Technology
(ICT), Continuing Healthcare and elements of medicines management.
2.1.1 Quality
Recognising its duty to improvement in the quality of services, the CCG has committed to
putting quality at the heart of all its work, with a strategic priority to develop and sustain a
culture of quality. In support of this the Commissioning Quality and Patient Safety Strategy
2013–2016 was ratified by the Governing Body in August 2013. The strategy aims to ensure
continuous improvement of quality outcomes, together with assurance of quality and patient
safety standards in services commissioned by the CCG. The strategy addresses
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recommendations from the Francis Report following the Public Inquiry of Mid Staffordshire
NHS Foundation Trust. Examples of the areas of focus during the year include:
Improvements in Infection Prevention and Control, with reductions in clostridium
difficile infection incidence and an increase in specialist nurse expertise to support
care homes during periods of increased incidence of Norovirus;
Increased input to quality assurance and support to care homes resulting in improved
surveillance and a better understanding of the true nature of patient safety and
quality concerns in care homes;
Introduction of an electronic repository for reporting quality concerns and
recommendations which support ‘early warning’ through analysis and identification of
trends which, where appropriate, trigger actions and interventions resulting in more
timely resolution of quality concerns;
Recruitment of Quality Assurance lay members with the aim of improving access to
the experience and views on NHS services from the general public and patients;
Presentation of patient stories at Governing Body meetings to bring the live
experience of patients and an understanding of local health services to the attention
of the Governing Body.
2.1.2 Safeguarding
The CCG is active in its involvement with both the Safeguarding Children Board and
Safeguarding Adults Board in Worcestershire. The Designated Nurse – Safeguarding and
the Adult Safeguarding Lead work across the three CCGs in Worcestershire and liaise
regularly with colleagues in the local health care providers, nursing homes and the local
authority. The implementation of the countywide Safeguarding Children and Adults
Commissioning Strategy is fundamental to driving forward the CCG’s commitment to the
safeguarding agenda.
2.1.3 Commissioning
The CCG is responsible for commissioning emergency and urgent care and healthcare
services to meet the reasonable needs of the people for whom they are responsible. It also
has a statutory duty to assist and support NHS England in securing continuous improvement
in the quality of primary medical services. Directly commissioned services include: urgent
and emergency care including A&E, ambulance and out-of-hours services; elective hospital
care; community health services; maternity services; rehabilitation services; healthcare
services for older people; continuing healthcare (CHC); home oxygen services; treatment of
infectious diseases. Also, through joint commissioning arrangements with Worcestershire
County Council, a further range of services are commissioned, including healthcare services
for children, for people with mental health conditions and for people with learning disabilities.
The main providers of services for the local population are Worcestershire Acute Hospitals
NHS Trust, Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust and West Midlands Ambulance
Services NHS Trust, with smaller contracts held with a number of acute hospitals and other
providers on the CCG borders. In all its commissioning activity the CCG has due regard to
‘The National Health Service (Procurement, Patient Choice and Competition) Regulations
2013’.
Through all its commissioning work the CCG has regard to the NHS Constitution, and
monitoring of providers includes a suite of metrics related to delivery of related key targets.
These include both performance and quality measures.
Particular areas of commissioning and service redesign work have included:
Reconfiguration of stroke services which has resulted in better, more efficient acute
based stroke care, which has almost consistently achieved the required standards
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and received positive feedback from patients. Collaborative work continues with the
relevant providers to model the required enhancement of community care and to
develop a local community services specification that simultaneously meets the
requirements of the regional specification and reflects existing service provision that
in some cases exceeds these criteria.
Service re-design work has been completed to provide Epilepsy Nurse services to
improve local neurological services and support patients living with epilepsy and their
carers.
After much development work the CCG, in partnership with the other CCGs in
Worcestershire, is now preparing to go out to the market to procure a provider for a
community dietetic service.
The Joint Commissioning arrangements with Worcestershire County Council have
ensured compliance with the post-Winterbourne View Concordat; commissioning of
an enhanced community pathway to minimise the need for people with learning
disabilities to be admitted to hospital; commissioning Improved Access to
Psychological Therapies (IAPT) services to meet the interim target of 6.8% for
2013/14; commissioning ‘Discharge to Assess’ beds from the independent nursing
home sector to ensure sufficient capacity and throughput from the Acute Trust so
people are not subject to delayed discharge.
2.1.4 Progress against agreed targets
Following the formation of the CCG and in doing so, becoming a lead commissioner, there
have been challenges in monitoring the progress towards NHS Constitution thresholds
across organisational boundaries.
The smaller numbers of patients included within CCG numbers made monthly variation in
performance more likely and challenging, especially where a service was encountering
difficulties. However it has ensured that the CCG would focus on individual patients rather
than overall figures, looking closely at the separate specialties to identify difficulties being
encountered. These challenges have ensured the CCG is constantly reviewing performance
for its patients.
The CCG is continually reviewing its performance against the NHS Outcomes Framework
and CCG Outcomes Indicator Set. These indicators review the CCG’s performance against
outcome measures rather than the process measures that are within the NHS Constitution.
These are produced on a CCG basis and this allows the CCG to benchmark against similar
CCGs and against national measures.
Successes during 2013/14 included
Achievements against the majority of the cancer ‘referral to treatment’ targets have
been consistent and improved in some cases. The CCG is working with the local
acute trust to ensure that individual specialties achieve their thresholds.
Clostridium difficile: the national threshold is set on a prescribed percentage
improvement. This threshold was a very challenging one but the CCG is currently
below the limit set.
18 weeks threshold for all non-admitted patients and incomplete pathways have
remained above threshold for 2013/14. We are working with individual specialties to
ensure that this continues and that delays are dealt with promptly.
Friends and Family Test results have been significantly above the England levels of
performance. We will now be working with trust sites and wards to highlight where
patients have reported less than satisfactory elements of care.
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Challenges during 2013/14 included
•

Performance against the 18 week threshold for admitted patients (Referral to
Treatment -RTT) has been below target during the year in a number of specialties.
The CCG is working closely with the local provider to ensure patients are seen as
quickly as possible and where necessary offered alternative providers of care. This
will be one of the major challenges for the CCG going into 2014/15.

•

Performance by the Acute Trust against the A&E standard for patients waiting less
than four hours before being discharged after treatment or admitted to the hospital
has been below target for much of the year. In seeking to improve this performance
the CCG is continuing to work closely with the Trust to improve throughput within the
hospitals, to highlight alternatives to patients, such as Minor Injury Units.

•

Performance against the Cancer 62 day referral to treatment target has been
affected by the 18 week RTT problems and will be closely monitored during 2014/15.

•

Ambulance performance is a concern for the CCG and there is close working with the
provider to ensure this improves.

2.1.5 Reducing inequalities
The CCG is actively involved in addressing health inequalities through a number of initiatives
delivered in partnership with the District and Borough Councils and other local partners. The
initiatives include a focus upon the Areas of Highest Need: ‘Winning Winyates’ – engaging
and developing the community across three deprived estates in Redditch to co-ordinate
support by the introduction of a wellbeing hub, a food bank and a community resource
centre, providing access to Citizen’s Advice Bureau, health trainers, mental wellbeing
services and support for vulnerable people; ‘Sidemoor Community Health Hub’ – providing a
number of health improvement services and programmes to the community in Bromsgrove;
‘Activity on Referral’ – a service for patients with stable conditions, accessed via GP referral
to a 12 week programme at the Bromsgrove Leisure Centre or Redditch Abbey Stadium.
2.1.6 Public involvement and consultation
In line with the duty regarding public involvement and consultation, NHS Redditch and
Bromsgrove CCG is committed to being a ‘listening and responding’ organisation. Over the
course of 2013/14, patient and public engagement has been a fundamental and important
part of all CCG activities. The CCG has been successful in recruiting over 200 members of
the public onto the ‘Now Have Your Say’ patient and public membership scheme. The
patient and public membership scheme has provided valuable input into other engagement
exercises, such as the draft Urgent Care Strategy for Worcestershire. A Voluntary and
Community Sector (VCS) membership scheme was also launched to ensure effective
communication and engagement with this sector. At present there are 20 organisations
registered onto this scheme.
The Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) Forum was actively involved in the CCG’s annual
priority setting for 2014/15, with a Pre-Priority Setting Event held specifically for the PPI
Forum to ensure members were confident and well equipped to be able to input into the
process. Representatives from the Voluntary and Community Sector were also involved and
engaged throughout.
The PPI Forum has taken on an important lead role in the promotion of the CCG and NHS
initiatives, such as the Redditch and Bromsgrove Virtual Ward and the new NHS 111
service. Their work will take on greater importance during 2014/15 as the CCG has identified
a key priority for 2014/15 around ‘Self Care, Patient Education and building a responsible
community’.
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PPI members are also being provided with opportunities to become further involved, with
Level 3 members receiving training to support the CCG’s Quality Team in their assurance
visits to providers.
As part of a large engagement process for the Draft Prospectus for Local Acute Hospital
Services 2014/15, members of the public were encouraged to provide feedback and more
than 500 responses were received by the CCG.
Member practice engagement and support continues via monthly Redditch and Bromsgrove
Advisory Forum (RBAF) meetings, together with quarterly peer support via ‘Zoning’
arrangements, monthly education sessions and Lead GP arrangements. The CCG has also
worked closely with NHS England to address how they can support continuous improvement
in the quality of primary care for local people and this work will continue into 2014/15.
2.1.7 Research
In support of promoting research the CCG has appointed a GP lead for Primary Care
Research and this person will work in liaison with the University of Worcester to encourage
and generate opportunities for local practices to be more actively involved in a range of
research opportunities.
2.1.8 Contribution to health and well-being strategy
The CCG is an active member of the Worcestershire Health and Well-being Board (HWBB),
represented by Dr Jonathan Wells (Chair and Clinical Leader) and Simon Hairsnape (Chief
Officer). The CCG’s local strategic priorities for 2013/14 included reducing inappropriate
unscheduled admissions, preventing avoidable admissions and supporting/improving the
processes once patients are admitted, and improving access and outcomes for mental
health services, all of which are aligned to the HWBB priorities.
2.1.9 Looking to the future
In keeping with the guidance and requirements of the NHS planning system 2014/15
onwards, ‘Everyone Counts: Planning for Patients 2014/15-2018/19’, the CCG has set out its
objectives to improve the healthcare status of the local population and their experience of
healthcare services across the five years 2014/15–2018/19. These will be set out fully within
the ‘Five Year Health and Care Strategy for Worcestershire’, to be published in summer
2014. The key ambitions which have been set against the five NHS Outcome Domains can
be summarised as follows:
A reduction of 3.2% per year in the potential years of life lost from amenable causes
of death;
An improvement in the health related quality of life for people with long term
conditions so as to move within the top 30% of CCGs within the country;
A 17% reduction in the number of emergency admissions across a range of four
specific patient categories;
A 13% reduction in the proportion of people reporting a poor experience of hospital
care;
A 6% reduction in the proportion of people reporting a poor experience of care
outside hospital.
In addition the CCG has agreed a local ambition with stakeholders and partners to reduce by
5% the number of emergency admissions for conditions that should not require hospital
admission.
The CCG will also continue to seek a further reduction in the number of cases of clostridium
difficile within the community and operate a zero tolerance approach to MRSA.
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We certify that the clinical commissioning group has complied with the statutory duties laid
down in the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
2.2

Development and performance of the Clinical Commissioning Group for the
period under review and in the future

This section sets out the key features of financial performance for 2013/14 and provides an
analysis of key performance indicators. It also discusses the five year financial strategy that
aims to achieve the planning requirements set out in ‘Everyone Counts: Planning for
Patients 2014/15-2018/19’.
2.2.1 Financial highlights
The finances for 2013/14 have been very challenging for the CCG and the local health
economy, mainly due to budgetary pressures resulting from disaggregation of Primary Care
Trust contracts with providers into clinical commissioning groups and specialised
commissioning. This system change, which was due to NHS reorganisation and a national
requirement to deliver £20 billion efficiency savings (Quality, Innovation, Productivity and
Prevention - QIPP initiative) by 2015, coupled with rising demand for services, presented
additional pressures in achieving key financial targets as defined by the NHS England
Assurance Framework.
However, the CCG has been able to deliver a surplus of £772k against a target of £1,781k.
The application of funds (expenditure) against the resource allocation (income) and key
variances underpinning the delivered surplus is provided below.
Application of Funds vs.
Resource Allocation

2013-14

Key Variances - Surplus / (Deficit) for 2013-14

3,561

£'000

Resource Allocation:
Revenue Resource Limit

178,071

Running Cost Allocation

4,220

Non Recurrent Allocation

1,384

Total Allocation (Income)

183,675

1,773

1,643

Acute

Primary care

Community

(1,368)

(1,309)

Release of
Contingency

Continuing
Care/Local
Authority

QIPP

Application of Funds:
Programme
Administration
Total Application (Expenditure)
Surplus / (Deficit)

179,305
3,598
182,903
772

(3,541)

The above variances amount to £760,000 surplus with an additional £12,000 on running
costs comprising the surplus of £772,000. There were pressures with increased emergency
admissions at Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust and University Hospitals
Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust. The CCG’s QIPP programme was focused on treating
more patients in community and home environments which, although successful, created
financial pressure in prescribing. There were also pressures in physiotherapy and podiatry
as more providers entered the market under the ‘Any Qualified Provider’ route, although it
does have the benefit of driving up quality. All of these pressures were offset by a
combination of releasing the CCG’s internally held contingency reserves and using
externally held reserves with the Local Authority who commission Adult Mental Health
services and a range of Children’s services on behalf of the CCG.
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2.2.2 Financial outlook
The NHS faces challenging times ahead as a funding gap of £30 billion by 2020 has been
recognised nationally. The CCG recognises its pivotal role in delivering savings and costeffectiveness to ensure continuing financial balance whilst maintaining quality of care for
patients.
The planning guidance Everyone Counts: Planning for Patients 2014/15-2018/19 sets out
the key business rules for clinical commissioning groups. The compliance to the rules and
local assumptions to combat the rising costs of delivering care is set out below.
Clinical Commissioning Group Compliance
Key Business Rules
2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

Minimum 0.5% Contingency Fund

0.5%

0.5%

0.5%

0.5%

0.5%

Deliver 1% Surplus Carry Forward

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

1.5% non-Recurrent Spend

1.5%

1%

1%

1%

1%

Hold 1% Call to Action Fund

1%

Local Assumptions:
- CCG allocations is assumed to grow by 1.8% in 2016-17 and 1.7% for 2017-18 & 2018-19.
- Demographic growth is 2% for acute and community while 0.5% for other areas.
- Tariff is assumed to deflate by 1.5% for acute services and 1.8% for non-acute services.
- Prescribing is inflated by 4.5% to account for increased care within community and local practices.

The allocations notified by NHS England for the CCG are shown below however in addition
the Better Care Fund allocation will also be available to facilitate closer working between
health and social care services in the future.
Allocations
Programme Baseline Allocation
Running Cost Allocation
Total Notified Allocation

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

182,693

185,799

189,143

192,358

195,628

4,196

3,764

3,752

3,742

3,732

186,889

189,563

192,895

196,100

199,360

In order for the CCG to achieve all of the key financial metrics for 2014/15, and beyond, it
needs to deliver significant QIPP savings. The QIPP programme will deliver service redesign
to improve quality of services to patients that are clinically sound, yet can deliver savings to
commissioner and providers.
2014/15 and 2015/16 pose a risk in terms of achieving a stable financial picture, due to the
level of QIPP challenge and 10% reduction in running costs, but once achieved the future
depicts a sustainable financial position for the CCG.
Further details of the CCG’s financial plans for the coming five years are included in the
CCG
Financial
Strategy
which
can
be
accessed
at
http://www.redditchandbromsgroveccg.nhs.uk/about-us/strategies-policies-andprocedures/corporate/
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2.3

The resources, principal risks and uncertainties and relationships that may
affect the clinical commissioning group’s long-term performance

The CCG has strong clinical leadership and engagement from among its member practices
to support work across a wide range of new developments and service redesign with a focus
on innovation. A number of new initiatives have been introduced during 2013/14 to improve
care for patients and further changes are planned for the coming year.
Significant resources have been directed into the ‘Future of Acute Hospitals Services in
Worcestershire Review’ to secure an efficient and effective service for the local population in
the future. This work is on-going and will have a significant impact on the CCG and its
commissioning decisions in the coming years.
The management team working for the CCG are experienced across the breadth of the
functions to be delivered and are a workforce committed to delivering to a high standard to
ensure the best possible healthcare for our local population. It has been recognised that
there is further work to be done in addressing succession planning across the workforce and
the Governing Body members and this will be driven forward in 2014/15.
Work with the Arden Commissioning Support provider has, at times, created some
challenges and these services are being kept under close review and scrutiny to address
any issues and to focus on securing a high level of support across the contracted portfolio.
The CCG has fostered good working relationships with neighbouring CCGs, the Health and
Well-being Board, the Council at county and district/borough level, local providers, and most
importantly local people and communities.
The CCG has identified its major risks and they are detailed in the Governance Statement in
Section 7.11.
2.4

Sustainability Report

2.4.1 Introduction
Sustainability has become increasingly important as the impact of people’s lifestyles and
business choices are changing the world in which we live. The CCG acknowledges this
responsibility to patients, local communities and the environment, by working hard to
minimise its footprint.
In order to embed sustainability within CCG business it is important to identify where in its
processes and procedures sustainability should feature. The key areas are:
Buildings
Travel
Procurement
One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of a
Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP). The CCG will be putting together an
SDMP in the near future for consideration by the Governing Body. This will set out the
CCG’s ambitions and how it plans to deliver reductions in CO2 emissions from building
energy use, official travel and by its supply chain.
Through the coming year, the CCG is committed to reducing its environmental impact by:
Reducing the amount of energy consumed;
Reviewing energy contracts;
Implementing a green travel plan;
Reducing the usage of paper and printer cartridges;
Planning and buying services which are sustainable;

Page 13 of 44

2 05J_RBCCG Annual Report 2013-14 FINAL

Assessing the organisation’s progress through the NHS Good Corporate Citizen Tool
from a baseline score of 16% in March 2014.
2.4.2 Progress
As an organisation that acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a sustainable
future, the CCG has run awareness campaigns that promoted the benefits of sustainability to
staff and visitors. For example, the CCG marked NHS Sustainability Day on 27 March 2014
by raising awareness amongst staff of the need to save money, resources and reduce our
carbon footprint through, for example, reducing the amount of electricity and gas used,
reducing travel to meetings, cutting down on consumables and waste.
As a part of the NHS, the CCG has a duty to contribute towards the goal set in 2009 of
reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS by 10% (from a 2007 baseline) by 2015. As the
CCG is a new organisation, formed on 1 April 2013, there is limited data available on which
to base plans and the 2013/14 figures will be used as an initial baseline for measuring
progress. It is not possible therefore to draw any comparisons with previous years.
It should be noted that the CCG’s management team works across both NHS Redditch and
Bromsgrove CCG and NHS Wyre Forest CCG therefore any separation of the figures
between the two CCGs would not be meaningful. The CCG acknowledges however that
further work is required to ensure the data is robust.
a) Energy
Figure 1 shows the estimated consumption of gas and electricity by both NHS Redditch and
Bromsgrove CCG and NHS Wyre Forest CCG (given their shared staff and offices) during
2013/14.
Figure 1

Gas
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Electricity

24300
13.605813

Total Energy CO2e

23.661249

Total Energy Spend

£5,710.00

All staff are aware of the need to turn off computers, screens, printers and other electrical
equipment when not in use. The CCG’s management team occupies a modern building with
a regulated heating system which is maintained regularly to ensure maximum efficiency.
The CCG will continue to monitor its energy consumption and identify and implement
measures to reduce it year on year.
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b) Waste
The CCG actively seeks to minimise the amount of waste generated by its operations and to
reuse/recycle materials wherever possible. In the last year facilities have been introduced to
allow the separation of recyclable waste and general waste, including the recycling of printer
ink cartridges for charity.
Paper and printer consumables are the biggest consumables and the CCG seeks to
minimise the cost and wastage by using centralised printing facilities and encouraging staff
to print only when absolutely necessary. The CCG ensures that, wherever possible, the
paper and other stationery items it purchases are made from recycled materials. A review of
stock ordering and management systems has been initiated with a view to eliminating
unnecessary transportation, packaging and waste.
c) Water
Figure 2 shows the estimated usage of water during 2013/14. As with energy usage staff are
regularly reminded of the need to conserve water and reduce wastage.
Figure 2
Water

2013/14 (Estimated)

m3

160

Mains
tCO2e

0

Water and Sewage Spend

£470

d) Travel
The CCG recognises that staff travel to work and business travel is a major contributor to
greenhouse gas emissions. Staff are encouraged to use the most appropriate travel option,
including walking or cycling to work and avoiding travelling to meetings where possible.
During the last year the CCG has introduced teleconferencing facilities to reduce the need
for staff to travel to meetings. When they do travel to meetings, they are encouraged to car
share wherever possible. Going forward, the CCG will be monitoring staff business mileage
closely.
The CCG actively encourages staff to work flexibly by working from home, or at locations
closer to home, and has provided them with appropriate IT facilities to allow this.
e) Procurement
As a commissioning organisation, the CCG recognises that good quality healthcare,
delivered at the right time, and in the right place to the right person, reduces the use of
resources, carbon and improves sustainability.
This report reflects the position of the CCG in its first year of operation and represents a
baseline assessment. It identifies some elements of good practice as well as areas for
improvement which will be incorporated in the Sustainable Development Management Plan
and taken forward over the next 12 months.
2.5 Equality Report
2.5.1 Information to identify equality issues
a) Employees
Given the relatively small number of staff the CCG employs it is exempt under the Act from
publishing employee information. However, the CCG has taken the decision to be as open
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as it is able without any member of staff being identifiable. Therefore the CCG has published
information on gender, ethnicity and disability, which can be found on the website at
http://www.redditchandbromsgroveccg.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-and-diversity/workforceand-population-data/
The HR policies, including the Equality Policy, of the NHS Business Services Authority have
been adopted which are impact assessed at a national level. The CCG is also a Two Ticks
employer which means that it guarantees to offer an interview to disabled candidates who
meet the minimum person specification for a job. Support is also offered to disabled staff to
keep them in employment by making reasonable adjustments to workstations, patterns of
working or other adaptions as necessary.
Information is gathered on the six protected characteristics which NHS Jobs is able to collate
and an annual review will be carried out on who applies, who is shortlisted and who is
appointed. As the number of vacancies in the CCG’s first year of operation has been small it
is unlikely that this information will be statistically significant.
b) Population
Information about the population on whose behalf the CCG commissions services comes
from a variety of sources including the Office for National Statistics and Worcestershire
Public Health department.
This information is published on the CCG website at:
http://www.redditchandbromsgroveccg.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-and-diversity/workforceand-population-data/
This information is used to inform the Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs), which are carried
out on all new and refreshed strategies, policies, commissioning and decommissioning
decisions. This contributes evidence towards section 14Z2 of the NHS Act 2006.
Many policies were inherited from the previous PCT, and EIAs have only been published by
the CCG against new documents. All new and revised/refreshed policies, strategies and
other required documents will have EIAs completed and published.
2.5.2 Information about steps taken to have due regard
The CCG’s Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Strategy lays out how it proposes to meet
its duties, including examples of links between the integrated plan and the Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment for Worcestershire. The Strategy can be found at:
http://www.redditchandbromsgroveccg.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-and-diversity/
The CCG Equality Objectives were formulated from the organisation’s vision and values.
These
were
published
in
January
2014
and
can
be
found
at:
http://www.redditchandbromsgroveccg.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-and-diversity/
When the CCG’s initial integrated plan was prepared, laying out the commissioning plans for
2013/14, a high level Equality Impact Assessment was undertaken of the plan and areas
identified where some parts of the population, covered by the protected characteristics,
would be impacted more profoundly than others. For instance, it was recognised that older
people in care homes often have multiple health issues and have difficulty accessing primary
care. To date, a Nurse Practitioner to support care homes has been appointed using Winter
Pressures money. An Enhanced Service to improve primary care provision within care
homes has also been developed and implemented.
Once the EIA of the integrated plan had been completed, this was developed into the CCG’s
Equality Delivery System (EDS) Action Plan. Championed by Sir David Nicholson, the EDS
is one of NHS England’s major products and has been adopted by nearly all NHS
organisations in England. The CCG is still undergoing consultation on its actions with Patient
Group representatives and the CCG will use those people plus a peer organisation to rate
progress against the objectives. When completed this will be published. This will be a living
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document with the action plans from EIAs being added as they are developed. This
document will contribute evidence towards section 14T of the National Health Service Act
2006 as the CCG has specific measures to reassure itself that providers are delivering
services in a way that is fully accessible to all and measuring complaints by protected
characteristic.
During 2013, members of the Governing Body received training on their responsibilities
under the Act.
The CCG expects to evidence ‘due regard’ though the minutes of the Governing Body and
its sub-committees.
2.5.3 Member/staff breakdown by gender
As of 31 March 2014, by category
Governing Body: 9 males and 3 females;
Other senior managers (other than persons falling within the above disclosure): 1
male and 4 females (note these staff are shared across NHS Redditch and
Bromsgrove CCG and NHS Wyre Forest CCG);
The number of persons of each sex who were employees of the clinical
commissioning group (other than persons falling within the above disclosures): 7
males and 33 females (note these staff are shared across NHS Redditch and
Bromsgrove CCG and NHS Wyre Forest CCG).

Simon Hairsnape
Accountable Officer/Chief Officer
6th June 2014
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3. Members’ Report
3.1 Member Practices
The following practices make up the members of NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove Clinical
Commissioning Group:
Practice Name

Address

Woodrow Medical Centre

Woodrow Centre, Redditch, B98 7RY

Maple View

Tanhouse Lane, Church Hill, Redditch, B98 9AA

The Dow Surgery

William Street, Redditch, B97 4AJ

The Bridge Surgery

8 Evesham Road, Redditch, B97 4LA

New Road Surgery Rubery

104-106 New Road, Rubery, Birmingham, B45
9HY

The Ridgeway Surgery

6-8 Feckenham Road, Astwood Bank, Redditch,
B96 6DS

Elgar House

Church Road, Redditch, B97 4AB

New Road Surgery Bromsgrove

46 New Road, Bromsgrove, B60 2JS

Crabbs Cross Surgery

38 Kenilworth Close, Crabbs Cross, Redditch, B97
5JX

St Johns Surgery

BHI Parkside, Stourbridge Road, Bromsgrove, B61
0AZ

Crabbs Cross Medical Centre

39 Kenilworth Close, Crabbs Cross, Redditch, B97
0JX

Catshill Village Surgery

36 Woodrow Lane, Catshill, Bromsgrove, B61 0PU

The Glebeland Surgery

The Glebe, Belbroughton, Stourbridge, DY9 9TH

Winyates Health Centre

Winyates Centre, Redditch, B98 0NR

Churchfields Surgery

BHI Parkside, Stourbridge Road, Bromsgrove, B61
0AZ

Hollywood Medical Practice

Beaudesert Road, Hollywood, Birmingham, B47
5DP

Davenal House Surgery

28 Birmingham Road, Bromsgrove, B61 8DT

St Stephen's Surgery

Adelaide Street, Redditch B97 4AL

Barnt Green Surgery

82 Hewell Road, Barnt Green, Birmingham, B45
8NF

Hillview Medical Centre

60 Bromsgrove Road, Redditch, B97 4RN

Hollyoaks Medical Centre

229 Station Road, Wythall, Birmingham, B47 6ET

Cornhill Surgery

65 New Road, Rubery, Birmingham, B45 9JT

The Chair/Clinical Leader is Dr Jonathan Wells.
The Accountable Officer is Simon Hairsnape.

Page 18 of 44

2 05J_RBCCG Annual Report 2013-14 FINAL

3.2 Details of members of the Governing Body
Membership of the NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove Clinical Commissioning Group’s
Governing Body for the period 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 is:
NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG Governing Body
Members with
Voting Rights

Position

Term of Office

Attendance
record

Dr Jonathan Wells

Chair and Clinical Leader,
Community Services Lead

01/04/13 to present

6/7

Mr Simon
Hairsnape

Chief Officer

01/04/13 to present

7/7

Dr Richard Davies

Assistant Clinical Chair/GP
member, Finance and
Performance Lead

01/04/13 to present

6/7

Dr David Law

GP member, Quality and Patient
Safety Lead

01/04/13 to present

5/7

Dr Rupen Kulkarni

GP member, Elective services
redesign (QIPP) Lead and GP
support to areas of highest need

01/04/13 to present

7/7

Dr Safdarali Siwji

GP member, Medicines
Management Lead

01/12/13 to present

2/2

Mr Tony Hadfield

Lay member leading on matters
of governance/ Deputy Chair

01/04/13 to present

7/7

Mrs Judith Adams

Lay member leading on patient
and public involvement matters

01/04/13 to present

7/7

Mr Deyhim
Foroughi

Secondary Care Specialist
doctor

01/04/13 to present

5/7

Ms Linda Pratt

Practice Manager representative

01/04/13 to present

7/7

Mr Paul Sheldon

Chief Finance Officer

02/12/13 to present

2/2

Ms Jo Galloway

Executive Nurse, Quality and
Patient Safety

01/04/13 to present

4/7
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Deputies with
Voting Rights,
(attendance in
the absence of
the CFO and/or
Executive Nurse
respectively)

Position

Term of Office

Attendance
record

Mr Steven Perks

Deputy Chief Finance Officer

01/04/13 to present

0/0

Mrs Catherine
Whitehouse

Deputy Executive Nurse, Quality 01/04/13 to present
and Patient Safety

3/3

Previous
Members

Position

Term of Office

Attendance
record

Dr Catherine
McGregor

GP member

01/04/13 to 30/04/13

1/2

Dr Stephen
Miskin

GP member

01/04/13 to 14/05/13

1/2

Dr Edward
Barrett

GP member

01/04/13 to 30/09/13

3/4

Ms Mary Walters

Chief Finance Officer

01/04/13 to 31/10/13

5/5

In Attendance
(Non-Voting)

Position

Term of Office

Attendance
record

Ms Christina
Emerson

Head of Commissioning and
Service Redesign

01/04/13 to present

7/7

Mrs Andrea
Guest

Head of Business Development
and Operations

01/04/13 to present

6/7

Mrs Karen Hunter

Head of Corporate Affairs

01/04/13 to present

6/7

Mr Michael
O’Donnell

Head of Strategy

01/04/13 to present

6/7
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NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG Audit Committee
Members

Position

Term of Office

Attendance
record

Mr Tony Hadfield

Lay member leading on matters of
governance/ Deputy Chair

01/04/13 to present

4/4

Dr Rupen Kulkarni

GP member, QIPP Projects Lead

01/04/13 to present

3/4

Ms Linda Pratt

Practice Manager representative

01/04/13 to present

3/4

In Attendance
(Non-Voting)

Position

Term of Office

Attendance
record

Mr Paul Sheldon

Chief Finance Officer

2/12/13 to present

1/1

Ms Mary Walters

Chief Finance Officer

01/04/13 to 31/10/13

3/3

Mrs Karen Hunter

Head of Corporate Affairs

01/04/13 to present

4/4

Phil Jones

Associate Director, External Audit

01/04/13 to present

3/4

Lorraine Noak

Assistant Manager, External Audit

01/01/14 to present

1/4

Mr James Elsby

Audit Manager, External Audit

01/04/13 to 30/11/13

2/4

Kristina
Woodward

Area Chief Internal Auditor, Internal 01/04/13 to present
Audit

3/4

Emma Masters

Audit Manager, Internal Audit

01/04/13 to present

1/4

Paul Westwood

Deputy Head, Counter Fraud Services 01/04/13 to present

2/4

Carol Brown

Local Counter Fraud
Counter Fraud Services

1/4

Paul Dudfield

Consortium Director, Internal Audit

Specialist, 01/04/13 to present

01/04/13 to present

Attends if
required –
only attended
once in
2013/14

For details of the NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG Governing Body and Senior
Management Profiles and declarations of interest, please see Section 5.
For details of membership of other CCG committees and sub-committees, please see the
NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG Governance Statement, section 7.4.
3.3

Pension liabilities

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme.
Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions
website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit
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scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be
run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined
contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in the
Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting
period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not
differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal
actuarial valuation, the Financial Reporting Expenditure Measures (FReM) requires that “the
period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in
intervening years” and accounting valuation every year.
The pension details are provided in the table at the end of this section. It is to be noted that
some members form part of the shared management team of NHS Redditch and
Bromsgrove CCG and NHS Wyre Forest CCG for whom the gross amount is shown instead
of proportionate share. The GP members’ pension contribution solely relates to their work
on behalf of both CCGs. The accounting treatment is detailed in Note 4 of Notes to Annual
Accounts.
The cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of
the pension scheme benefits accumulated by a member at a particular point in time. The
benefits valued are the member’s accumulated benefits and any contingent spouse’s
pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or
arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when
the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former
scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as
a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a
senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details
include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the
individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional
pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of
pension service in the scheme at their own cost. The CETVs are calculated within the
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
The real increase in CETV is the effective increase funded by the employer. It takes account
of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and
uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.
3.4

Sickness absence data

The CCG has had a very low sickness absence rate (0.85%) during 2013/14. The CCG is
committed to helping reduce levels of absence by assisting and encouraging all employees
to maximise attendance. The importance of managing sickness absence sensitively,
consistently and fairly is recognised. All absence cases were dealt with through the CCG’s
‘Managing Sickness Absence’ process, and in addition the NHS Staff Handbook sets out a
framework to support employers and staff in the management of sickness absence and
managing the risk of premature and unnecessary ill health retirements. As an organisation,
the CCG is clear about its responsibilities for health, safety and welfare of staff at work and
carrying out appropriate risk assessments to identify and alleviate risks to staff. The CCG
also has a contract with Occupational Health to provide support and advice where required.
This service includes provision of flu vaccinations to staff. There is a section on the staff
Intranet on health and well-being and discussions on this have been included in Staff Forum
meetings during the year, to help identify ways in which the organisation can further support
staff.
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Our approach to the effective management of sickness absence includes:
the role of line and senior managers in their engagement with managing absence
and the health and welfare of their staff;
monitoring, measuring and understanding absence;
managing sickness absence when it happens;
assessing any underlying causes of absence, especially where they might be
improved through better work organisation and job design;
helping people to remain in work when they have health problems and facilitating
their return to work following illness or injury, this can include making reasonable
adjustments in line with our duty as an employer e.g. changes to duties, shifts or
hours, changes to the place of work, allowing staged/phased return to work;
creating a working environment where people can be provided with the support and
encouragement to take responsibility for improving their own health;
early intervention, where applicable, such as occupational health services,
counselling and confidential employee assistance support;
application of supporting HR/Health and Safety related policies.
3.5

External audit

NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG’s external auditor is Grant Thornton. Fees paid to
Grant Thornton for the statutory audit amounted to £79,200 inclusive of VAT. No further
assurance services were received.
3.6

Disclosure of Serious Untoward Incidents

NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG has not reported any Serious Untoward Incidents to
the Information Commissioner’s office in 2013/14.
3.7

Cost allocation and setting of charges for information

The clinical commissioning group levies a charge on information requests only for Subject
Access Request (SAR), as per the Data Protection Act 1998, but does not provide any
charge bearing service indicating compliance with Annex 6.1 and 6.2 of HM Treasury’s
guidance on Managing Public Money.
We certify that the clinical commissioning group has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance
on cost allocation and the setting of charges for information.
3.8

Principles for remedy

NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG works in accordance with the Parliamentary and
Health Service Ombudsman's Principles for Remedy, which details how public bodies should
put things right when they go wrong. The guidance has been developed to ensure public
bodies seek to resolve situations in which groups or individuals have suffered harm or
injustice, and is based upon six core principles including openness and accountability, being
customer focused and continually seeking improvement. The principles underpin much of
our day-to-day work including complaint handling and how we learn from our mistakes.
3.9

Employee consultation

The CCG has established a Staff Forum to enable effective and on-going consultation with
staff. Membership includes a representative from each team within the organisation, elected
within the teams, and is chaired by the Head of Corporate Affairs (by agreement of the
Forum membership). All staff are able to contribute to the agenda for each meeting (which
are held every other month) and team discussion and feedback on items is encouraged. The
Staff Forum has been consulted on the revision of the CCG Human Resources Policies.
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A full staff engagement event was held in October 2013 at which the topics discussed and
consulted on included our approach to quality, patient and public involvement, how to make
cost savings within the organisation, staff values and our approach to staff surveys. Work is
progressing on taking forward and implementing the outputs from that event.
The CCG also maintains an Intranet site to provide access to a wide range of information for
staff.
3.10

Disabled employees

This is detailed in the Equality Report in Section 2.5.
3.11

Emergency preparedness, resilience and response

The CCG, in its role as a Category Two responder with a duty as a co-operating
organisation, is an active member of the West Mercia Local Health Resilience Partnership.
The Head of Corporate Affairs has been nominated as the Accountable Emergency Officer.
Staff from the CCG have attended a workshop on Responding to Health Protection Incidents
and participated in a Major Incident Table-top Exercise.
We certify that the clinical commissioning group has incident response plans in place, which
are fully compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness
Framework 2013. The clinical commissioning group regularly reviews and makes
improvements to its major incident plan and has a programme for regularly testing this plan,
the results of which are reported to the Governing Body.
3.12 Statement as to disclosure to auditors
Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:
So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which
the clinical commissioning group’s external auditor is unaware; and,
That the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member
in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the clinical commissioning group’s auditor is aware of that information.

Simon Hairsnape
Accountable Officer/Chief Officer
6th June 2014
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4. Remuneration Report
The membership of the Remuneration Committee is appointed from among the Governing
Body members of NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG and those for NHS Wyre Forest
CCG and comprises of the Lay member responsible for governance, Tony Hadfield
(RBCCG) [Committee co-chair], the Chair of the Governing Body (RBCCG), the Lay member
responsible for governance for NHS Wyre Forest CCG, Fred Mumford [Committee co-chair],
and the Chair of the Governing Body (Wyre Forest CCG).
The Remuneration Committee met once in 2013/14, on 15 May 2014, with all members in
attendance except for the Chair of the Governing Body (WFCCG) who sent apologies.
There was a change in membership of the Remuneration Committee during the year, as Dr
Simon Gates (Chair of Wyre Forest CCG) stood down from his position and was replaced by
Dr Simon Rumley.
In determining remuneration for senior managers and Governing Body members, due regard
was taken of the NHS Commissioning Board HR Guide and associated Frequently Asked
Questions document. The principles applied in any such decisions are: compliance with
current disclosure requirements for remuneration; on occasion seeking independent advice
about remuneration for individuals; ensuring decisions are based on clear and transparent
criteria and compliance with all relevant national policies and guidance and operating in line
with the findings of the Hutton Fair Pay Review 2011.
There will be an annual review of remuneration unless decided otherwise by the
Remuneration Committee. Any nationally agreed inflation increase will be applied as and
when nationally determined and any remuneration is subject to further determination or
guidance issued nationally.
None of the remuneration rates set are in themselves subject to performance conditions
although the contracts overall include a section on the requirement for performance to be
reviewed on an annual basis.
Duration of contracts and notice periods for Governing Body members are as detailed in
Standing
Orders
(Appendix
C
of
the
Constitution)
accessible
at
http://www.redditchandbromsgroveccg.nhs.uk/about-us/constitution/
The contracts for executive staff are consistent with NHS Very Senior Manager (VSM)
contracts which were in place within PCTs for board level posts. They are permanent
contracts with a notice period of six months.
If circumstances arise which result in a senior manager on a VSM contract being made
redundant, the following calculations for redundancy payment will be applied: Any
redundancy payment will take the form of a lump sum, dependent on the employee’s
reckonable service at the date of termination of employment. The lump sum will be
calculated on the basis of one month’s pay for each complete year of reckonable service,
subject to a minimum of two years’ (104 weeks’) continuous service and a maximum of 24
years’ reckonable service being counted.

Simon Hairsnape
Accountable Officer/Chief Officer
6th June 2014
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4.1 Salaries and allowances
Governing Body Members’ Remuneration
2013-14

Name

Position

Date in Post
From

Date in
Post To

Salary &
Fees

Taxable
Benefits

All
Pension
Related
Benefits

Annual
Performance
Related
Bonuses

Long-term
Performance
Related
Bonuses

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands
of
£2,500)

Total

Total
Salary of
Shared
Staff
(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(rounded
to the
nearest
£00)

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

01/04/13

60-65

-

-

-

-

60-60

-

01/04/13

65-70

-

-

-

312.5315

380-385

130-135

01/04/13

35-40

-

-

-

217.5220

255-260

-

(bands of
£5,000)

Dr Jonathan Wells

Chair and Clinical Leader

Mr Simon Hairsnape

Chief Officer

Dr Richard Davies

Assistant Clinical Chair

Dr David Law

GP member, Quality and Patient
Safety Lead

01/04/13

15-20

-

-

-

-

15-20

-

Dr Rupen Kulkarni

GP member, Elective services
redesign (QIPP) Lead

01/04/13

15-20

-

-

-

-

15-20

-

Dr Safdarali Siwji

GP member, Medicines
Management Lead

01/12/13

0-5

-

-

-

5-7.5

5-10

-

Dr Edward Barrett

GP member

01/04/13

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

-

Mr Tony Hadfield

Lay member leading on matters
of governance/ Deputy Chair

01/04/13

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

-

Mrs Judith Adams

Lay member leading on patient
and public involvement matters

01/04/13

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

-

Mr Deyhim Foroughi

Secondary Care Specialist
doctor

01/04/13

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

-

Ms Linda Pratt

Practice Manager representative

01/04/13

5-10

5-10

-

-

-

10-15

-

Mr Paul Sheldon

Chief Finance Officer

02/12/13

20-25

-

-

-

42.5-45

65-70

35-40

Ms Mary Walters

Chief Finance Officer

35-40

-

-

-

127.5130

165-170

60-65

Ms Jo Galloway

Executive Nurse, Quality and
Patient Safety

50-55

-

-

-

75-77.5

125-130

85-90

01/04/13
01/04/13

30/09/13

31/10/13
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4.2 Members’ Pension Disclosure

Real
increase
in pension
at age 60

Name

Position

Date in
Post From

Date in
Post To

(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase
in pension
lump sum
at age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2014
(bands of
£5,000)

Lump
sum at
age 60
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2014

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
value at
31 March
2013

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
value at
31 March
2014

Real
increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Employer’s
contribution
to
partnership
pension

(bands of
£5,000)
£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

01/04/13

12.5-15

42.5-45

50-55

150-155

704

1,042

322

-

Mr Simon
Hairsnape

Chief Officer

Dr Richard Davies

Assistant Clinical Chair

01/04/13

7.5-10

27.5-30

10-15

35-40

43

169

125

-

Dr Safdarali Siwji

GP member, Medicines
Management Lead

01/12/13

0-2.5

0-2.5

0-5

5-10

29

41

4

-

Mr Paul Sheldon

Chief Finance Officer

02/12/13

0-2.5

5-7.5

20-25

65-70

203

300

31

-

Ms Mary Walters

Chief Finance Officer

01/04/13

5-7.5

17.5-20

45-50

135-140

742

899

141

-

Ms Jo Galloway

Executive Nurse, Quality and
Patient Safety

01/04/13

2.5-5

10-12.5

25-30

85-90

410

493

74

-

31/10/13
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4.3 Pay multiples
The table below demonstrates the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid
member of the clinical commissioning group and the median remuneration of the workforce as per
requisite disclosure mentioned in the guidance.
2013-14
200,000 – 205,000

Banded remuneration range of the highest paid member
Mid-point of the banded annualised remuneration of the highest paid
member

202,500

Median of the annualised remuneration of workforce

45,707

Pay multiple (ratio of highest paid member to median workforce)

4.43

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, and benefits in
kind. It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash
equivalent transfer value of pensions.
4.4 Off-payroll engagements
The required disclosure following the Review of Tax Arrangements of Public Sector Appointees
published by the Chief Secretary to the Treasury on 23 May 2012 on off-payroll engagements are
set out below.
Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2014 for more than £220 per day

Number

The number that have existed:
For less than one year at the time of reporting
For between one and two years at the time of reporting

6

For between two and three years at the time of reporting
For between three and four years at the time of reporting
For four or more years at the time of reporting
Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2014

6

All existing off-payroll engagements, as outlined above, have been subject to a risk based
assessment and assurance has been received that the individuals have complied with their tax
obligations to HMRC.
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Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2014

Number

for more than £220 per day
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014

6

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the clinical
commissioning group the right to request assurance in relation to Income
Tax and National Insurance obligations

6

Number for whom assurance has been requested.
Of which, the number:

2
2

For whom assurance has been received
For whom assurance has not been received
That have been terminated as a result of assurance not being
received

The profiles of the Governing Body members are included in Section 5 of Governing Body report
but details regarding their off-payroll engagements are as follows.
Off-payroll engagements of Membership Body and/or Governing
Body members as of 31 March 2014

Number

Number of off-payroll engagements of Membership Body and/or Governing
Body members and/or senior officials with significant financial responsibility
during the financial year

4

Number of individuals that have been deemed “Membership Body and/or
Governing Body members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial
responsibility” during the financial year (this figure includes both off-payroll
and on-payroll engagements)

14

Name of Member

Off-payroll
engagement duration

Reason for arrangement

Dr Jonathan Wells

01/04/13 to 31/03/14

Compliance with terms of partnership
agreement with other members of
practice

Dr Catherine McGregor

01/04/13 to 30/04/13

Compliance with terms of partnership
agreement with other members of
practice

01/04/13 to 14/05/13

Compliance with terms of partnership
agreement with other members of
practice

01/04/13 to 30/09/13

Compliance with terms of partnership
agreement with other members of
practice

Dr Stephen Miskin

Dr Edward Barrett
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5. Governing Body and Senior Management Profiles and Declarations of Interest
Dr Jonathan Wells, Chair and Clinical Leader
Jonathan is Chair and Clinical Leader of NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove Clinical Commissioning
Group. He spends two days a week in this role and the remaining time in clinical practice. In
addition to Chair of the RBCCG Governing Body, Jonathan is also Lead GP for Community
Services and a member of the Remuneration Committee.
Register of Interests
o

GP Partner, Hillview Medical Centre, Redditch

o

Spouse is a GP Partner, Hillview Medical Centre, Redditch

Simon Hairsnape, Chief Officer
As Chief Officer of the CCG, Simon leads the CCG’s executive and management functions. Simon
is accountable to both the CCG’s Governing Body and NHS England for ensuring the CCG fulfils
its statutory duties and delivers its aims and objectives.
Register of Interests
o

Chief Officer (Accountable Officer), NHS Wyre Forest CCG

Dr Richard Davies, Assistant Clinical Chair/GP member, Finance and Performance Lead
Richard is Assistant Clinical Chair, Governing Body Member and Lead GP for the Finance and
Performance Committee. Richard is Lead GP for Finance and QIPP, and also leads on Hospital
Services.
Register of Interests
o

GP Partner, Dr Cowburn and Partners, The Ridgeway Surgery, Astwood Bank

o

Wife is a GP Partner, Dr Cowburn and Partners, The Ridgeway Surgery, Astwood Bank

o

Director of Davies and Davies Consultancy Ltd

o

Wife is a Director of Davies and Davies Consultancy Ltd

o

The Ridgeway Surgery is signed up to the primary care research network and is involved in
research.

Dr Rupen Kulkarni, GP member, QIPP Projects Lead
Rupen is a Governing Body GP and Lead GP for some elective services redesign (QIPP) including ophthalmology, orthopaedics, physiotherapy and provides GP support to areas of highest
need. Rupen is a member of the Audit Committee.
Register of Interests
o

GP Partner, Winyates Health Centre, Redditch.

Dr David Law, GP member, Quality and Patient Safety Lead
David is a Governing Body GP and Lead GP for Quality and Patient Safety. David is a member of
the Quality and Patient Safety Committee.
Register of Interests
o

GP Profit-sharing Partner, CQC Lead, Commissioning Lead, Palliative Care Lead, Churchfields
Surgery, Bromsgrove

o

Churchfields Surgery is a provider of medical services to Worcestershire Health and Care Trust
at Princess of Wales Hospital, Bromsgrove. This trust and site are part of the Virtual Ward
project. Medical provision for the project is currently under review.
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o

School Medical Officer, Bromsgrove School

o

Director, Bromsgrove Healthcare Innovations Ltd

o

Joint shareholder (with wife) in Bromsgrove Healthcare Innovations Ltd

o

Director, Recreation Road Ltd

o

Charity Trustee (Deacon) and Treasurer, Bromsgrove Baptist Church

o

Churchfields Surgery is a member of the Primary Care Research Network and actively involved
in appropriate research.

Dr Safdarali Siwji, GP member, Medicines Management Lead
Safdarali is Lead GP for Medicines Management, and attends Area Prescribing Committee (APC)
meetings on behalf of the CCG.
Register of Interests
o

Partner at Woodrow Medical Centre

o

Director of Premium Care Investments Ltd which owns and is currently upgrading a residential
home in Druids Heath, Birmingham. It plans to rent it out to a provider in Birmingham.

Tony Hadfield, Lay member leading on matters of governance/Deputy Chair
Tony chairs the Remuneration Committee, Finance and Performance Committee and the Audit
Committee.
Register of Interests
o

None declared.

Judith Adams, Lay member leading on patient and public involvement matters
Judy is Chair of the Patient and Public Involvement Forum and a member of the Quality and
Patient Safety Committee.
Register of Interests
o

Sub contractor, Worcestershire Association of Carers

o

Director, Healthwatch Worcestershire (until 30 April 2013)

o

Volunteer member, Healthwatch Worcestershire Reference and Engagement Group.

Linda Pratt, Practice Manager representative
Linda is Practice Manager representative on the Governing Body and represents all of the Practice
Managers across Redditch and Bromsgrove. Linda has a crucial role in primary care development
and practice engagement, and is a member of the Audit Committee.
Register of Interests
o

Practice Manager – Hillview Medical Centre, Redditch.

Deyhim Foroughi, Secondary Care Specialist Doctor
Deyhim is the Secondary Care Specialist Member on the Governing Body and brings a wealth of
experience to our clinically led organisation. He is a member of the Quality and Patient Safety
Committee.
Register of Interests
o

Consultant in Emergency Medicine, George Eliot Hospital NHS Trust, Nuneaton.
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Paul Sheldon, Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer
As Chief Finance Officer Paul leads the Finance and Performance functions of the CCG. Paul is a
member of the CCG Governing Body and is accountable to the Chief Officer in ensuring the CCG
achieves its statutory duties, aims and objectives. He is a member of the Finance and Performance
Committee.
Register of Interests
o

Chief Finance Officer, NHS Wyre Forest CCG.

Jo Galloway, Executive Nurse, Quality and Patient Safety
As Executive Nurse of the CCG, Jo has responsibility for quality, patient safety and safeguarding.
Jo works closely with the GP Quality Leads and is a member of the Quality and Patient Safety
Committee.
Register of Interests
o

Executive Nurse, Quality and Patient Safety, NHS Wyre Forest CCG

o

Honorary Research Fellow, Faculty of Health and Research Centre, Health and Lifestyles
Interventions, Coventry University.

Karen Hunter, Head of Corporate Affairs
Karen is a member of the senior leadership team with lead responsibility for ensuring the CCG
adheres to all legal, constitutional and regulatory requirements, through corporate governance, risk
management and assurance processes and she acts as the Governing Body Secretary.
Register of Interests

o Head of Corporate Affairs, NHS Wyre Forest CCG
o Treasurer, Abbey Medical Practice Trust Fund, Evesham
o Husband is Chair of Worcestershire VOICES, Chair of Worcestershire Council for Voluntary
Youth Services and a member of the Worcestershire Safeguarding Children Board.
Michael O’Donnell, Head of Strategy
Michael leads on strategy development for the CCG.
Register of Interests

o Head of Strategy, NHS Wyre Forest CCG.
Christina Emerson, Head of Commissioning and Service Redesign
As Head of Commissioning and Service Redesign, Chris leads the Shared Commissioning Team,
to ensure that the three CCGs in Worcestershire have access to an extensive portfolio of health
care services for their patients.
Register of Interests
o

Head of Commissioning and Service Redesign, NHS South Worcestershire CCG and NHS
Wyre Forest CCG.

Andrea Guest, Head of Business Development and Operations
As a member of the senior team, Andrea leads the RBCCG Locality Team as an ‘outward facing
function’ with a key focus upon managing and supporting the relationships between the CCG
management team, the 22 member practices and wider local stakeholders, with a priority focus on
supporting Primary Care.
Register of Interests
o

None declared.
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Previous Members
Dr Catherine McGregor, GP member (to 30/04/13)
Register of Interests

o GP Provider, Inter Practice LARC and Minor Surgery LES
o Practice Lead on new premises build.
Dr Stephen Miskin, GP member (to 14/04/13)
Register of Interests
o

GP Partner, Hollywood Medical Practice

o

Director, Hollywood Doctors Ltd.

Dr Edward Barrett, GP member (to 30/09/13)
Register of Interests

o GP Principal, Catshill Village Surgery.
Ms Mary Walters, Chief Finance Officer (to 31/10/2013)
Register of Interests
o

Chief Finance Officer, NHS Wyre Forest CCG
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6. Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibility Requirements
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Simon Hairsnape to be the
Accountable Officer of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and
regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping proper
accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of
the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment
Letter.
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form
and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared on an
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical
Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for
the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in particular to:
Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting
and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the financial statements; and,
Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in
my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

Simon Hairsnape
Accountable Officer/Chief Officer
6th June 2014
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7. Governance Statement
7.1 Introduction
The clinical commissioning group was licensed from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted in the
Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the NHS Act 2006.
The clinical commissioning group operated in shadow form prior to 1 April 2013, to allow for the
completion of the licensing process and the establishment of functions, systems and processes
prior to the clinical commission group taking on its full duties and responsibilities.
As at 1 April 2013, the clinical commissioning group was licensed without conditions.
7.2 Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims and objectives,
whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently and
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial
propriety and regularity.
7.3 Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we have
reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice available,
including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the
CCG and best practice.
7.4 The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework
The Governing Body governance framework is applied within the requirements of the Constitution
and associated appendices as approved through the authorisation process. Amendments to the
Constitution were agreed through NHS England during the year in relation to the membership of
the Governing Body, reducing the number of GP members from seven to five, and to the election
process for GP members in the future.
During the year 2013/14 the Governing Body has met seven times, each meeting being held in
public, and attendance of members is listed in Section 3.2.
The diagram below outlines the sub-committee structure of the CCG. Membership of these subcommittees is outlined in the respective terms of reference which have been approved by the
Governing Body and attendance at these meetings is recorded in the minutes of each meeting.
Each of the sub-committees report to the Governing Body on a regular basis.
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Audit Committee critically reviews the CCG’s financial reporting and internal control principles,
and ensures an appropriate relationship with both internal and external auditors is maintained.
The duties of the Committee are driven by the priorities identified by the CCG and the
associated risks. Membership is as detailed in Section 3.2. During 2013/14 the Committee met
four times. Items on the agendas included key updates from internal and external audit, Board
Assurance Framework, Bribery Act and Conflicts of Interest, CCG Risk Register, Counter
Fraud Work plan 2013/14, policy approval (Information Governance and Counter Fraud).
Remuneration Committee recommends to the Governing Body appropriate salaries,
remunerations and payments and terms and conditions of employment. Membership and
details of meetings are included in Section 4.
Quality and Patient Safety Committee seeks assurance that the commissioning strategy for the
clinical commissioning group fully reflects all elements of quality (patient experience,
effectiveness and patient safety); provides assurance that commissioned services are being
delivered in a high quality and safe manner, ensuring that quality sits at the heart of everything
the clinical commissioning group does; oversees and seeks assurance that effective
management of risk is in place to manage and address clinical governance issues.
Membership of the Committee is: Core membership: Executive Nurse, Quality and Patient
Safety, GP Quality Lead, Secondary Care Specialist Doctor (Committee Chair), Lay member
leading on patient and public involvement matters, Head of Corporate Affairs, Head of
Commissioning and Service Redesign; Associate membership: Health Watch representative,
Deputy Executive Nurse, Quality and Patient Safety; In Attendance/Co-opted: Safeguarding
Nurse, Practice nurse, Quality and Patient Safety Team representatives, Infection Prevention
and Control representative, Audit Committee governance lead, Finance lead, Service redesign
representatives, Public Health. The Committee met six times during 2013/14 and provided
regular reports to the Governing Body in addition to the regular Quality Report presented by the
Executive Nurse Quality and Patient Safety.
Finance and Performance Committee attends to performance monitoring and financial matters,
seeking action as required. Membership of the Committee consists of: the Lay member leading
on matters of governance (chair of the Committee), Head of Commissioning and Service
Redesign, Chief Finance Officer, Head of Strategy, one other Governing Body member. The
Deputy Chief Finance Officer to deputise for the Chief Finance Officer and the Deputy to Head
of Commissioning and Service Redesign to deputise for the Head of Commissioning and
Service Redesign. During 2013/14 the Committee met six times and provided regular reports to
the Governing Body through the regular Performance and Finance reports.
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Through a framework of corporate governance the CCG Governing Body directs and controls the
organisation at the most senior level in order to achieve its objectives and meet the necessary
standards of accountability and probity. The co-ordinating body for receiving assurance on the
strands of governance (corporate, clinical, financial, and information) is the Audit Committee which
oversees integrated governance on behalf of the Governing Body. In addition the other subcommittees also oversee the risks within their specific remits, providing assurance to the Audit
Committee and/or to the Governing Body where appropriate.
The CCG Governing Body complies with the Corporate Code of Governance and a demonstration
of this is by individual Governing Body members and staff affirming their compliance with the
Codes of Accountability and Codes of Conduct for the NHS when declaring their interests, as well
as the values of accountability, probity and openness.
During establishment, arrangements were put in place by the CCG to ensure compliance with the
relevant legislation. Careful review of the Scheme of Delegation was made to ensure it met all
relevant requirements and legislation.
The clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on
it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012)
and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the clinical
commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the
statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those
functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to an executive lead.
Confirmation has been given that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to
undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties.
7.5 The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework
The CCG has recognised there will be elements of risk in all the activities it undertakes or
commissions others to undertake on its behalf. These risks have the potential to undermine,
threaten or prevent the organisation achieving its vision and objectives. The Risk Management
Strategy and processes in place provide clarity on how the risks affecting each area of its activity
are identified, how the risks are managed, the likelihood of occurrence and their potential impact
on the successful achievement of the CCG objectives.
The CCG has sought to embed a culture where risk management is considered an essential and
positive element in the commissioning of healthcare. It is acknowledged that managing risk is both
a collective and an individual responsibility and that resources may need to be applied to address
risk.
The CCG has a comprehensive risk assessment programme which includes both proactive and
reactive approaches. The proactive approach includes risk assessment and implementation of
mitigating actions arising from these assessments. Reactive approaches include responding to
complaints and incident reporting.
7.6 The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework
Systems have been developed and implemented to identify the potential risks associated with the
CCG’s responsibilities and activities including commissioning, contract monitoring, quality
improvement, QIPP. These include the completion of Equality Impact Assessments and Quality
Impact Assessments.
Systems have also been developed and implemented for the prevention and management of risks.
For example, use of trigger events and protocols, review of and learning lessons from serious
incidents and education to raise staff awareness.

Page 37 of 44

2 05J_RBCCG Annual Report 2013-14 FINAL

Systems for risk assessment provide a structured method to:
identify risks across the CCG functions, including financial management, commissioning
and quality improvement;
establish the level of risk and to whom or which function it applies;
assess whether existing actions are adequate to manage the risk;
develop and implement plans to meet any shortcomings and mitigate the risk;
review that mitigating actions are working.
The CCG has a suite of policies and protocols related to Corporate Governance, Counter Fraud,
Business Conduct and Whistleblowing and confirmation has been sought from all staff that these
have been read and acknowledged.
7.7 Information governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the
NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable
information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an information
governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical
commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with
legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
The CCG places high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. The CCG has a refreshed
suite of Information Governance related policies and protocols to support the management and
control of data security and any related potential risks. These have been supported by face to face
training and e-learning programmes which have been delivered to all staff across the organisation.
This has raised the level of awareness and understanding across the organisation. There are
processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. At the end of March
2014 the CCG achieved level 2 compliance across all appropriate criteria within the Information
Governance Toolkit.
7.8 Pension obligations
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures
are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme regulations are
complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and
payments into the scheme are in accordance with the scheme rules, and that member pension
scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the
regulations.
7.9 Equality, diversity and human rights obligations
Control measures are in place to ensure that the clinical commissioning group complies with the
required public sector equality duty set out in the Equality Act 2010. For details please see Section
2.5.
7.10 Sustainable development dbligations
The clinical commissioning group is required to report its progress in delivering against sustainable
development indicators.
We are developing plans to assess risks, enhance our performance and reduce our impact,
including against carbon reduction and climate change adaptation objectives. This includes
establishing mechanisms to embed social and environmental sustainability across policy
development, business planning and in commissioning.
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We will ensure the clinical commissioning group complies with its obligations under the Climate
Change Act 2008, including the Adaptation Reporting power, and the Public Services (Social
Value) Act 2012.
We are also setting out our commitments as a socially responsible employer.
7.11 Risk Assessment in relation to governance, risk management and internal control
Where risks are identified they are assessed utilising the risk assessment matrix as detailed within
the Strategy. This process is led by the responsible senior manager and wherever possible is
undertaken in conjunction with and/or ratified by the committee or group of staff/members who
identified the risk. This provides a means of ensuring there is a consistency in risk scoring across
the organisation.
Risk management is seen as an integral part of normal business, within a culture of honest
reporting and transparency. This programme for effective risk management is based on a robust
assessment of risk and the application of appropriate systems and controls to mitigate the
identified risks.
During the year workshops were delivered to all teams within the organisation focusing on the
principles of risk management and risk assessment to ensure a full understanding of the process.
This also provided an opportunity for sharing good practice across the organisation. An
introduction to the process is included within the induction programme for all new staff. Sessions
were also delivered to the Governing Body on the Board Assurance Framework and this is being
expanded for 2014/15.
There are also robust processes of both Equality Impact Assessments and Quality Impact
Assessments against strategies, policies, and service developments for which staff have been
trained and which are applied across the organisation.
Major risks as identified during the year:
QIPP projects do not deliver as expected resulting in the CCG not meeting financial plans:
controls/mitigating actions - review of all QIPP schemes against current performance and
refresh where applicable; introduction of PMO to scrutinise and monitor performance against
identified KPIs. Reporting through the Finance and Performance sub-committee to monitor
progress.
Activity exceeds plan for acute services resulting in pressure on CCG budget:
controls/mitigating actions - detailed plans in place, regular monitoring/review of activity against
plan via Contract Management Board (CMB) meetings. Reporting through the Finance and
Performance sub-committee to monitor progress.
Quality of commissioned services do not always achieve established standards resulting in
poor quality care for local population: controls/mitigating actions - detailed quality schedule in
the contract, penalties applied where applicable, CQUIN scheme to improve quality in
highlighted areas, monthly Clinical Quality Review meetings with scrutiny of reports and data,
quality assurance visits, Serious Untoward Incidents reporting and review. Reporting through
the Quality and Patient Safety sub-committee to monitor progress.
Performance against key performance indicators below target resulting in failure to deliver
against the NHS Constitution, including A&E four hour target, 18 week referral to treatment
target (RTT), some cancer pathways targets: regular monitoring of performance (daily for four
hour waits): controls/mitigating actions - monthly Contract Management Board meetings with
Acute Trust, application of contract penalties as applicable, task and finish group working with
Trust to manage 18 week RTT recovery, Urgent Care Strategy, Virtual Ward introduction to
reduce unnecessary admissions and attendances at A&E. Reporting through the Finance and
Performance sub-committee to monitor progress.
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Arden Commissioning Support performance below required standard resulting in difficulty for
CCG to deliver their business: controls/mitigating actions - regular meetings between staff in
CCG and CSU, both at service level and overall contract level, plans in place to integrate some
teams to facilitate better working, review of all service specifications to clarify requirements and
to tighten performance measures, exploring options for alternative delivery models, including
returning some services in-house. Reporting through Senior Management Team and Clinical
Executive Team.
Although the CCG met their statutory duty to remain within their allocated resources during
2013/14 and returned a surplus of £772,000 this was less than the required surplus of £1.8m
resulting in a risk to the CCG for 2014/15: controls/mitigating actions: - robust and stringent
financial plan for 2014/15 to achieve the required surplus of £1.8m.
7.12 Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
There is regular review and scrutiny of the operational and financial positions of the organisation
through the Governing Body and associated sub-committees, and the application of a
comprehensive Internal Audit programme and engagement with External Auditors.
7.13 Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal control
As Accountable Officer I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning group.
7.14 Capacity to handle risk
As Chief Officer I have overall accountability for the management of risk within the CCG. The Head
of Corporate Affairs is the executive lead for risk management and is supported by the Corporate
Affairs Manager. Senior colleagues have responsibility for identifying and progressing risk
management within their areas of responsibility.
The Risk Management Strategy, Serious Incident (SI) Management Policy and Procedure and
associated guidance clearly describes the responsibilities of all staff in the CCG appropriate to their
role.
7.15 Review of effectiveness
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning
group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also informed
by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit Committee, the Quality and Patient
Safety Committee and the Finance and Performance Committee and a plan to address
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.
In this, its first year of operation, the CCG has developed its Assurance Framework document
during the course of the financial year, providing assurance to the Governing Body regarding the
effectiveness of the system of internal control to manage the principal identified risks. It is
acknowledged that this is work in progress and the Assurance Framework is currently a combined
risk register containing all risks facing the CCG. A workshop is to be held in April 2014 to take
forward the further development of the Assurance Framework for 2014/15.
The Audit Committee review the risk register in full on a quarterly basis and risks applicable to the
Quality and Patient Safety Committee and the Finance and Performance Committee are monitored
in detail through the relevant sub-committee.
Our Internal Audit programme, determined early in the year, with some flexibility to include some
reactive audits, has provided an independent view on the adequacy and effectiveness of systems
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of internal control across a range of financial and organisational areas. The findings from these
audits have been reported in detail to the Audit Committee and there is a robust mechanism for
monitoring implementation against any actions identified.
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical commissioning
group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of risk management, governance
and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit’s overall opinion is that:
‘significant assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of internal
control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally
being applied consistently. However, some weakness in the design and/or inconsistent
application of controls, put the achievement of particular objectives at risk.
The basis for forming this opinion is as follows:
1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance Framework
and supporting processes; and
2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit
assignments contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been reported
throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative materiality of these
areas and management’s progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses.
3. Any reliance that is being placed upon third party assurances.
The full Opinion and associated commentary which provides the context for the Head of Internal
Audit Opinion can be found at Appendix E.
During the year the Internal Audit issued a Payroll Audit report with a conclusion of limited
assurance. This applied to the internal controls of Arden Commissioning Support, rather than
directly to the CCG. However as this was a service contracted by the CCG the report was
considered by the Audit Committee and progress against the identified actions was reported during
the year. The final report received provided significant assurance for the period December 2013March 2014. This is a service the CCG will continue to keep under review and surveillance.
During the year the Internal Audit issued no audit reports with a conclusion of no assurance.
7.16 Data quality
The substantial changes made nationally to the data management and data flow systems has led
to challenges with the quality and timeliness of the data available to the CCG. This has been a
limiting factor for the CCG in 2013/14 with significant locally driven work to secure data which could
be used to inform actions, decisions and assurance. This will be a priority in 2014/15 to secure
improvement.
7.17 Business critical models
An appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of business
critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report.
All business critical models have been identified and information about quality assurance
processes for those models has been provided to the Analytical Oversight Committee, chaired by
the Chief Analyst in the Department of Health.
7.18 Data security
We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information governance toolkit
assessment, achieving Level 2.
During the year there have been no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches
to report.
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7.19 Discharge of statutory functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning group and
explained within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert
external legal input, to ensure compliance with all relevant legislation. That legal advice also
informed the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the
scheme of delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the statutory
duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other
associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the clinical commissioning
group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for
which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Senior Manager. All
Senior Managers have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.
7.20 Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified during the year.

Simon Hairsnape
Accountable Officer/Chief Officer
6th June 2014
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8.

Annual Reports

8.1

Report by the Auditors to the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG

The letter of representation for the CCG’s appointed external auditors is available at
Appendix B. The annual external audit findings report for 2013/14 to members of the
Governing Body of the CCG can be found at Appendix C, and the external audit opinion can
be found as Appendix D.
8.2

Financial Statements

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the European Union
endorsed International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by HM Treasury
and detailed in Government Financial Reporting Manual. The full financial statements are
included as an appendix to this report, including the financial notes, and can be found at
Appendix A:
As newly established bodies the financial statements are straightforward and simple to
understand. The clinical commissioning group has met all its statutory duties which are
detailed in note 42 and is shown below.
2013-14
Statutory Duty
Expenditure not to exceed income
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the
amount specified in directions
8.3

Target
£’000

Performance
£’000

1,781

772

183,675

182,901

4,220

3,598

Better Payments Practice Code

In addition to its key financial duties, NHS England requires the clinical commissioning group
to comply with the Better Payment Practice Code. This requires the clinical commissioning
group to pay all undisputed invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid
invoice, whichever is later. The target is to achieve 95% compliance i.e. pay at least 95% of
invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within agreed contract terms. The details of compliance
to the code are summarised below:
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2013-14
Better Payment Practice Code
Number

£’000

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year

1,401

37,878

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target

1,301

36,417

% of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target

93%

96%

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year

1,332

127,931

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target

1,288

127,048

% of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target

97%

99%

Non-NHS Payables:

NHS Payables:

8.4

Prompt Payments Code

The predecessor primary care trust was an approved signatory of prompt payments code
and as the successor body we have adhered to the code. The clinical commissioning group
will sign up to the code in financial year 2014/15.
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Data entered below will be used throughout the workbook:
Entity name:
This year
This year ended
This year commencing:
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2014
Note
Administration Costs and Programme Expenditure
Gross employee benefits
Other costs
Other operating revenue
Net operating costs before interest
Other operating revenue
Other (gains)/losses
Finance costs
Net operating costs for the financial year

4.1
5
2

1,463
184,048
(2,608)
182,903

8
9
10

182,903

Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption
Net operating costs for the financial year including absorption transfers
Of which:
Administration Costs
Gross employee benefits
Other costs
Other operating revenue
Net administration costs before interest
Programme Expenditure
Gross employee benefits
Other costs
Other operating revenue
Net programme expenditure before interest

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure

182,903

4.1
5
2

1,463
2,552
(417)
3,598

4.1
5
2

181,496
(2,191)
179,305

2013-14
£000

Impairments and reversals
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant & equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Movements in other reserves
Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on assets held for sale
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pension schemes
Share of (profit)/loss of associates and joint ventures
Reclassification Adjustments
On disposal of available for sale financial assets
Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year
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2013-14
£000
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182,903
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2014
31 March 2014
Note

£000

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment property
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Total non-current assets

13
14
15
17
18

-

Current assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

16
17
18
19
20

53
4,713
37
4,803

Non-current assets held for sale

21

-

Total current assets
Total assets

4,803
4,803

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

23
24
25
26
30

Total Assets less Current Liabilities

10,888
10,888
(6,085)

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

23
24
25
26
30

-

Total Assets Employed

(6,085)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Charitable Reserves
Total taxpayers' equity:

(6,085)
(6,085)

The notes on pages 5 to 28 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing
Body on 20/5/14 and signed on its behalf by:

Simon Hairsnape
Accountable Officer/Chief Officer
6 th June 2014
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2014

Note
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Balance at 1 April 2013
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS Bodies as a result of
the 1 April 2013 transition
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed
NHS bodies
Adjusted CCG balance at 1 April 2013
Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Net operating costs for the financial year

General
fund

Revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

56

-

-

56

-

-

-

-

56

-

-

56

-

-

(182,903)

(182,903)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

-

-

-

-

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred under
absorption
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2014

-

-

-

-

-

-
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(182,847)
176,762
(6,085)

(182,847)
176,762
(6,085)
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2014
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating costs for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Interest paid
Release of PFI deferred credit
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

2013-14
£000
(183,630)
3
(4,713)
10,888
(177,452)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health
(Payments) for other financial assets
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)
Loans made in respect of LIFT
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT
Rental revenue
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities

-

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing

(177,452)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net funding received
Other loans received
Other loans repaid
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial
Position PFI and LIFT
Capital grants and other capital receipts
Capital receipts surrendered
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

176,762
727
177,489
20

37

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year

-

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in
foreign currencies

-

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial
Year

37
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Financial performance targets
Clinical commissioning groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s performance against those duties was as follows:
2013-14

Expenditure not to exceed income

Target

Performance

Duty

£’000

£’000

Achieved?

1,781
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Yes

Not applicable

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions

772

183,675

182,903

Yes

Not applicable
Not applicable
4,220

3,598

Yes

Redditch and Bromsgrove Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2013-14
Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the
accounting requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the
following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2013-14 issued
by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts follow International
Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning
groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the
Manual for Accounts permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true
and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are
described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.

1.1
1.2

1.3
1.4

In accordance with the Directions issued by NHS England comparative information is not provided in these
Financial Statements.
Going Concern
The clinical commissioning group accounts have been prepared on going concern basis.
Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial
liabilities.
Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations
The clinical commissioning group had no acquisitions and discontinued operations.
Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the
Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual
does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under
merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their
transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions
transfer within the public sector. Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in
the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.

1.5
1.6

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS
20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.
For transfers of assets and liabilities from those NHS bodies that closed on 1 April 2013, HM Treasury has
agreed that a modified absorption approach should be applied. For these transactions only, gains and losses
are recognised in reserves rather than the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
Charitable Funds
The clinical commissioning group held no charitable funds
Pooled Budgets
The clinical commissioning group was not party to any pooled budget arrangements during 2013-14 however
under section 75 arrangements, aligned budgets are held on our behalf via Worcestershire local authority
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Redditch and Bromsgrove Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2013-14
Notes to the financial statements
1.7

1.8

1.9
1.9.1

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The management of clinical commissioning group has made no critical judgements and estimations in the
application of accounting policies.
Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is
deferred.
Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received
from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.9.2

1.10

1.11
1.12

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed
under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a
way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical
commissioning group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the
scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical
commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been
received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a
present legal or constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have
been met.
Property, Plant & Equipment
The clinical commissioning group had no property, plant & equipment
Intangible Assets
The clinical commissioning group had no intangible assets
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Notes to the financial statements
1.13

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
The clinical commissioning group had no depreciation, amortisation or impairments
1.14 Donated Assets
The clinical commissioning group had no donated assets
1.15
Government Grants
The clinical commissioning group had no government grants
1.16 Non-current Assets Held For Sale
The clinical commissioning group had no non-current assets held for sale
1.17 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
1.17.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually
assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.
1.18
Private Finance Initiative Transactions
The clinical commissioning group had no private finance initiative transactions
1.19
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is
considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.
1.20 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and that form an integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.
1.21

1.22

Provisions
The clinical commissioning group had no provisions. All previous continuing healthcare provisions are held with
NHS England
Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays
an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The
contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for
all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.23

1.24
1.25
1.26

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third
Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual
contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising.
The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to
operating expenses as and when they become due.
Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme
The clinical commissioning group had no schemes
Contingencies
The clinical commissioning group had no contingencies
Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial
instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered.
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
The clinical commissioning group held no financial assets that are classified in to the following categories:

1.27

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
Held to maturity investments;
Available for sale financial assets; and,
Loans and receivables.
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when
the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been
discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially
recognised at fair value.
The clinical commissioning group held no financial liabilities that are classified in to the following categories:
Financial guarantee contract liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit & loss
Other financial liabilities
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Notes to the financial statements
1.28

1.29
1.30
1.31

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output
tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant
expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged
or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
Foreign Currencies
The clinical commissioning group’s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling.
Third Party Assets
The clinical commissioning group had no third party assets
Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for
the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are
therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into
different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.

1.32

1.33

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals
basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical
commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal
revenue expenditure).
Legacy Balances
The accounting arrangements for balances transferred from predecessor PCTs ("legacy" balances) are
determined by the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014. The Accounts Directions
state that the only legacy balances to be accounted for by the CCG are in respect of property, plant and
equipment (and related liabilities) and inventories. All other legacy balances in respect of assets or liabilities
arising from transactions or delivery of care prior to 31 March 2013 are accounted for by NHS England. The
impact of the legacy balances accounted for by the CCG is disclosed in note 11 to these financial statements.
The CCG's arrangements in respect of settling NHS Continuing Healthcare claims are disclosed in note 30 to
these financial statements
Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be
applied in 2013-14, all of which are subject to consultation:
IAS 27: Separate Financial Statements
IAS 28: Investments in Associates & Joint Ventures
IAS 32: Financial Instruments – Presentation (amendment)
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
IFRS 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2013-14,
were they applied in that year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Patient transport services
Prescription fees and charges
Dental fees and charges
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: NHS
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Receipt of donations for capital acquisitions: NHS Charity
Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Income generation
Rental revenue from finance leases
Rental revenue from operating leases
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2013-14
Total

2013-14
Admin

2013-14
Programme

£000

£000

£000

775
1,833
2,608

279
138
417

496
1,695
2,191

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank
account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund.

3 Revenue
2013-14
Total
£000
2,608
2,608

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

2013-14
Admin
£000
417
417

Revenue is almost totally from the supply of services. Revenue from the sale of goods is immaterial.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

2013-14
Total

Total
Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Admin
Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Programme
Permanent
Employees

Other

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

1,203
107
153
1,463

1,154
107
153
1,414

49
49

1,203
107
153
1,463

1,154
107
153
1,414

49
49

-

-

-

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

1,463

1,414

49

1,463

1,414

49

-

-

-

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

1,463

1,414

49

1,463

1,414

49

-

-

-

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
The CCG has no recoveries in respect of employee benefits
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2013-14
Total

Permanently
employed

Other

Number

Number

Number

Total - Admin
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people engaged
on capital projects

26

26

-

-

-

-

4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2013-14
Number
Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost

25
16
2

2013-14
Number
Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds
Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year

-

Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme
Where the clinical commissioning group has agreed early retirements, the additional
costs are met by the clinical commissioning group and not by the NHS Pension Scheme.

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year
The CCG has no exit packages agreed in 2013/14

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures
The CCG has no agreed departures during 2013/14
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4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run
in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical
commissioning group of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme
for the accounting period.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting
valuation every year. An outline of these follows:

4.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme
(taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by
employers and scheme members. The last such valuation, which determined current contribution rates was
undertaken as at 31 March 2004 and covered the period from 1 April 1999 to that date. The conclusion from the
2004 valuation was that the Scheme had accumulated a notional deficit of £3.3 billion against the notional assets
as at 31 March 2004.
In order to defray the costs of benefits, employers pay contributions at 14% of Pensionable pay and most
employees had up to April 2008 paid 6%, with manual staff paying 5%.
Following the full actuarial review by the Government Actuary undertaken as at 31 March 2004, and after
consideration of changes to the NHS Pension Scheme taking effect from 1 April 2008, his Valuation report
recommended that employer contributions could continue at the existing rate of 14% of Pensionable pay, from 1
April 2008, following the introduction of employee contributions on a tiered scale from 5% up to 8.5% of their
Pensionable pay depending on total earnings. On advice from the scheme actuary, scheme contributions may be
varied from time to time to reflect changes in the scheme’s liabilities.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending
31 March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation would have been due for the year ending 31 March
2008. However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded public service schemes were suspended by HM Treasury
on value for money grounds while consideration is given to recent changes to public service pensions, and while
future scheme terms are developed as part of the reforms to public service pension provision due in 2015.

4.5.2 Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting
period by updating the results of the full actuarial valuation.
Between the full actuarial valuations at a two-year midpoint, a full and detailed member data-set is provided to the
scheme actuary. At this point the assumptions regarding the composition of the scheme membership are updated
to allow the scheme liability to be valued.
The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2011 is based on detailed membership data as at 31 March
2008 (the latest midpoint) updated to 31 March 2011 with summary global member and accounting data.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the Scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part
of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Resource Account, published annually. These accounts
can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
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4.5 Pension costs
4.5.3 Scheme Provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme provides defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only,
and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before
these benefits can be obtained:
• The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the
best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay
per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual
pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service;
• With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free
lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HM Revenue & Customs rules. This new provision is known as
“pension commutation”;
• Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based
on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year;
• Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the Scheme who are permanently incapable
of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death
in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable;
• For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme.
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the statement of comprehensive net expenditure at the
time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment; and,

• Members can purchase additional service in the Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the Scheme’s
approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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5. Operating expenses

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits

2013-14

2013-14

2013-14

Total
£000

Admin
£000

Programme
£000

1,206
257
1,463

1,206
257
1,463

-

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and lay membership body and governing body members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Inventories written down
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Impairments and reversals of financial assets
·
Assets carried at amortised cost
·
Assets carried at cost
·
Available for sale financial assets
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals of investment properties
Audit fees
Other auditor’s remuneration
·
Internal audit services
·
Other services
General dental services and personal dental services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General opthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Grants to other public bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Change in discount rate
Other expenditure
Total other costs

2,550
22,559
95,174
5
37,126
204
144
235
59
272
6
77
79

1,601
11
1
204
109
42
117
6
77
79

949
22,559
95,163
5
37,125
144
126
17
155
-

26
23,660
220
1,632
10
10
184,048

26
259
10
10
2,552

23,660
220
1,373
181,496

Total operating expenses

185,511

4,015

181,496

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2013-14
Number

2013-14
£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

1,401
1,301
92.86%

37,878
36,417
96.14%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

1,332
1,288
96.70%

127,931
127,048
99.31%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30
days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
The CCG paid no late payment of commercial debts in 2013/14

7 Income Generation Activites
The clinical commissioning group does not undertake any income generation activities

8. Investment revenue
The CCG had no investment revenue

9. Other gains and losses
The CCG had no other gains and losses

10. Finance costs
The CCG had no finance costs
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11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption
The CCG had no gain/(loss)

12. Operating Leases

12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

2013-14

Land
£000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total

Buildings
£000
-

Other
£000
65
65

Total
£000
-

12.1.2 Future minimum lease payments

2013-14
Land
£000

Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

65
65

Buildings
£000
-

Other
£000
-

Total
£000
-

-

The clinical commissioning group occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Ltd. For 2013-14,
a transitional occupancy rent based on annual property cost allocations was agreed. This is reflected in Note 12.1.1.
While our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge
for future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for
these arrangements.

12.2 As lessor
12.2.1 Rental revenue

2013-14
£000

Recognised as income
Rent
Contingent rents
Total

-

12.2.2 Future minimum rental value

2013-14
£000

Receivable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total
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13 Property, plant and equipment
The CCG has no property, plant and equipment

14 Intangible non-current assets
The CCG has no intangible assets

15. Investment property
The CCG had no investment property as at 31 March 2014

16 Inventories

Drugs

Balance at 1 April 2013
Transfer of assets from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2013

-

56
56

-

-

Loan
Equipment
£'000
-

Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Write-down of inventories (including losses)
Reversal of write-down previously taken to the statement of comprehensive net expenditure
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body
At 31 March 2014

-

53
(56)
53

-

-

-

£'000

5 App A - RBCCG Accounts

Page 19

Consumables

Energy

£'000

£'000

Work in
Progress
£'000

Other

Total

£'000

£'000
-

56
56

-

53
(56)
53
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17 Trade and other receivables

Current

Non-current

2013-14
£000

2013-14
£000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS receivables: Capital
NHS prepayments and accrued income
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS receivables: Capital
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Private finance initiative and other public private partnership
arrangement prepayments and accrued income

3,126
1,118
467
2

-

-

-

Interest receivables
Finance lease receivables
Operating lease receivables
Other receivables
Total

4,713

-

Total current and non current

4,713

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

-

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to clinical
commissioning groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2013-14
£000
236
4
240

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

17.2 Provision for impairment of receivables
The CCG had no provision for impairment of receivables during 2013/14
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18 Other financial assets
The CCG has no other financial assets as at 31 March 2014

19 Other current assets
The CCG had no other current assets as at 31 March 2014

20 Cash and cash equivalents
2013-14
£000
37
37

Balance at 1 April 2013
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2014
Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with Commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts

-

Balance at 31 March 2014

37

Patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group, not included
above

21 Non-current assets held for sale
The CCG has no non-current assets held for sale

22 Analysis of impairments and reversals
The CCG has no impairments and reversals
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23 Trade and other payables

Current
2013-14
£000

Interest payable
NHS payables: revenue
NHS payables: capital
NHS accruals and deferred income
Non-NHS payables: revenue
Non-NHS payables: capital
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables
Total

3,141
840
512
5,821
29
37
508
10,888

Total payables (current and non-current)

10,888

Non-current
2013-14
£000
-

Other payables include £44k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2014

24 Other financial liabilities
The CCG had no other financial liabilities

25 Other liabilities
The CCG had no other liabilities

26 Borrowings
The CCG has no borrowings

27 Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements
The CCG has no private finance initiatives, LIFT or other service concession arrangements

28 Finance lease obligations
The CCG has no finance lease obligations

29 Finance lease receivables
The CCG has no finance lease receivables

30 Provisions
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible
for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care
before establishment of the clinical commissioning group. However, the legal liability remains with the
CCG. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on
behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2014 is £1,338k

31 Contingencies
The CCG has no contingencies
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32 Commitments
32.1 Capital commitments
2013-14
£000
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total

-

32.2 Other financial commitments
The clinical commissioning group and consolidated group had entered into non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases,
private finance initiative contracts or other service concession arrangements) which expire as follows:
2013-14
£000
In not more than one year
In more than one year but not more than five years
In more than five years
Total

-

33 Financial instruments
33.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in
creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of
financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing
risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical
commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated
by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in
undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the
clinical commissioning group’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity
is subject to review by the clinical commissioning group’s internal auditors.

33.1.1 Currency risk
The clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and
liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The clinical
commissioning group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

33.1.2 Interest rate risk
The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by
NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at
the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to
interest rate fluctuations.

33.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group’s revenue comes parliamentary funding, the clinical
commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in
receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

33.1.3 Liquidity risk
The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits agreed with NHS
England, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The clinical commissioning group draws down
cash to cover expenditure, from NHS England, as the need arises. The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore,
exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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33 Financial instruments cont'd
33.2 Financial assets
At ‘fair value
through
profit and
loss’

Loans and
Receivables

Available for
Sale

Total

2013-14
£000

2013-14
£000

2013-14
£000

2013-14
£000

Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2014

-

3,126
1,118
37
4,281

-

33.3 Financial liabilities

Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2014

At ‘fair value
through
profit and
loss’

Other

Total

2013-14
£000

2013-14
£000

2013-14
£000

-

3,981
6,797
10,778

34 Operating segments
The clinical commissioning group and consolidated group consider they have only one segment: commissioning of
healthcare services.

35 Pooled Budgets
The CCG was not party to any pooled budget arrangements during 2013-14

36 NHS Lift investments
The CCG has no lift investments
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37 Intra-government and other balances
Current
Receivables

Non-current
Receivables

Current
Payables

Non-current
Payables

2013-14
£000

2013-14
£000

2013-14
£000

2013-14
£000

Balances with:
·
Other Central Government bodies
·
Local Authorities

2
1,082

-

159
96

-

Balances with NHS bodies:
·
NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group
·
NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:

2,248
878
3,126

-

1,924
2,057
3,981

-

503

-

6,652

-

4,713

-

10,888

-

·
·

Public corporations and trading funds
Bodies external to Government

Total balances at 31 March 2014
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38 Related party transactions
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year Redditch & Bromsgrove CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for
which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. These entities are:
Amount owed
Amount due
Total
Total
(included in
(included in
Payments
Receipts
total
total receipts)
payments)
Related Party
Purpose of Transaction
£000's
£000's
£000's
£000's
Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust
Purchase of Healthcare
73,689
-423
Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust
Purchase of Healthcare
17,383
230
University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust
Purchase of Healthcare
8,513
14
West Midlands Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
Purchase of Healthcare
5,403
115
-80
Royal Orthopaedic NHS Foundation Trust
Purchase of Healthcare
2,953
205
-126
NHS Arden CSU
Purchase of Support Services
2,346
-72
19
Sandwell & West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust
Purchase of Healthcare
1,809
45
Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust
Purchase of Healthcare
1,747
Birmingham Women's NHS Foundation Trust
Purchase of Healthcare
1,515
104
University Hospital Coventry & Warwick NHS Trust
Purchase of Healthcare
1,084
48
Birmingham Children's NHS Foundation Trust
Purchase of Healthcare
830
-32
The Dudley Group NHS Foundation Trust
Purchase of Healthcare
503
-79
NHS England
Purchase of Healthcare
-1,267
350
-617

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with:
Amount owed
Total
Total
(included in
Payments
Receipts
total
payments)
Related Party
Purpose of Transaction
£000's
£000's
£000's
Worcestershire County Council
Purchase of Community Care
25,268
-2,902
96
HM Revenue & Customs
Payment of Income Tax etc.
748
66
NHS Pensions Scheme
Payment of Superannuation
485
44

Amount due
(included in
total receipts)
£000's
-1,082

During the year the following Board Members or members of the key management staff or parties related to them have received the following material payments from Redditch & Bromsgrove CCG. These
payments relate to dispensing services undertaken by their practice. It should be noted that these are payments to the practices and not to individual GPs.
Amount owed
Amount due
Total
Total
(included in
(included in
Payments
Receipts
total
total receipts)
payments)
Purpose of Transaction
£000's
£000's
£000's
£000's
Ridgeway Surgery
(Dr R Davies)
Mainly relates to GP Contract
295
Winyates Health Centre
(Dr R Kulkarni)
Mainly relates to GP Contract
178
Churchfields Surgery
(Dr D Law)
Mainly relates to GP Contract
173
1
Hillview Medical Practice
(Dr J Wells)
Mainly relates to GP Contract
145
3
Woodrow Medical Centre
(Dr S Siwji)
Mainly relates to GP Contract
35
Bromsgrove Healthcare Innovations
(Dr D Law)
Room hire
7
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39 Events after the end of the reporting period

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the clinical commissioning

40 Losses and special payments
The CCG had no losses or special payments

41 Third party assets
The CCG has no third party assets

42 Impact of IFRS
The CCG had no changes due to the impact of IFRS in 2013/14

43 Analysis of charitable reserves
The CCG has no charitable reserves
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44 Reconciliation of Cash Drawings to Parliamentary Funding
Total cash received from DH (Gross)
Less: Trade Income from DH
Less/(Plus): movement in DH working balances
Sub total: net advances
(Less)/plus: transfers (to)/from other resource account bodies (free text note required)
Plus: cost of Dentistry Schemes (central charge to cash limits)
Plus: drugs reimbursement (central charge to cash limits)
Parliamentary funding credited to General Fund
NHS England Adjustments
Less: Journal Entry from NHS England regarding Partially Completed Spells
Parliamentary funding credited to General Fund after NHS England Journal
Adjustments

2013-14
£000
158,207
0
0
158,207
0
0
19,282
177,489
(727)
176,762
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NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG
Letter of Representation, Grant Thornton

Barnsley Court
Barnsley Hall Road
Bromsgrove
Worcestershire
B61 0TX
Tel: 01527 482900
Fax: 01527 557087
Website: www.redditchandbromsgroveccg.nhs.uk
Email: An.Example@worcestershire.nhs.uk
5th June 2014

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Colmore Plaza
20 Colmore Circus
Birmingham
B4 6AT

Dear Sirs
NHS Redditch & Bromsgrove Clinical Commissioning Group
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial statements of NHS
Redditch & Bromsgrove Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2014 for
the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the accounting policies directed by
the Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury as relevant to the National Health Service in
England.
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we considered
necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:
Financial Statements
i

We acknowledge, as CCG Governing Body members our responsibilities under the National
Health Services Act 2006 for preparing financial statements which give a true and fair view and
for making accurate representation to you.

ii

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal
control to prevent and detect fraud.

iii

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at
fair value, are reasonable.
Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed
in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards and the
Manual for Accounts.

Chair: Dr Jonathan Wells
Chief Officer: Simon Hairsnape

iv

All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which International Financial
Reporting Standards and the Manual for Accounts requires adjustment or disclosure have been
adjusted or disclosed.

v

We have not adjusted the misstatements brought to our attention in the Audit Findings report,
which are considered to be immaterial to the results of the CCG and its financial position at the
year-end. The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions.

vi

In calculating the amount of income to be recognised in the accounts from the NHS organisations
we have applied judgement, where appropriate, to reflect the appropriate amount of income
expected to be received by the CCG in accordance with the Accounting Standards and Manual
for Accounts.

vii

We acknowledge our responsibility to participate in the Department of Health's agreement of
balances exercise and have followed the requisite guidance and directions to do so. We are
satisfied that the balances calculated for the CCG ensure the financial statements and
consolidation schedules are free from material misstatement, including the impact of any
disagreements.

viii Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in accordance with
the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards.
ix

We confirm that the financial statements have been properly considered and approved by an
appropriate body in accordance with the CCG constitution.

Information Provided
x

We have provided you with:
a. access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the
financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;
b. additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your audit;
and
c. unrestricted access to persons within the CCG from whom you determined it necessary
to obtain audit evidence.

xi

All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial
statements.

xii

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements
may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xiii We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware
of and that affects the CCG and involves:
a. management;
b. employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c. others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.
xiv We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud,
affecting the CCG’s financial statements communicated by employees, former employees,
regulators or others.
xv

We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance
with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing financial
statements.

xvi We have disclosed to you all of the CCG’s related parties and all the related party relationships
and transactions of which we are aware.
xvii We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should
be considered when preparing the financial statements.
Annual Report
xviii The disclosures within the Annual Report fairly reflect our understanding of the CCG’s financial
and operating performance over the period covered by the financial statements.
Governance Statement
xix The CCG has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could have a material
effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance. There has been no noncompliance with requirements of the Care Quality Commission or other regulatory authorities that
could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance.
xx

We are satisfied that the Governance Statement fairly reflects the CCG’s risk assurance
framework and we confirm that we are not aware of any significant risks that are not disclosed
within the AGS.

Approval
The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the CCG’s Audit Committee at its meeting
on 20th May 2014

Signed on behalf of the Governing Body

Name..…Paul Sheldon…………………….…
Position…Chief Finance Officer………….….
Date…5th June 2014………………………….

Name…Simon Hairsnape……….……………
Position…Chief Officer……………………….
Date…5th June 2014………………………….
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The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our
attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are
designed primarily for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial
statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all
areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify
any control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work
cannot be relied upon to disclose defalcations or other irregularities, or to
include all possible improvements in internal control that a more extensive
special examination might identify.
We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party
acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as
this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.
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Executive summary

Executive summary

Purpose of this report
This report highlights the key issues affecting the results of NHS Redditch &
Bromsgrove Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) and the preparation of the
CCG's financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014. It is also used to
report our audit findings to management and those charged with governance in
accordance with the requirements of International Standard on Auditing (UK &
Ireland) 260.
Under the Audit Commission's Code of Audit Practice (the Code) we are required
to report whether, in our opinion, the CCG's financial statements present a true
and fair view of the financial position. We are also required to reach a formal
conclusion on whether the CCG has put in place proper arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources (the Value for Money
Conclusion).
Introduction
In the conduct of our audit we have not had to alter or change our audit plan,
which we communicated to you in our Audit Plan dated April 2014
Our audit is substantially complete although we are finalising our procedures in the
following areas:
• Whole Government Accounts
• Review of the final version of the financial statements
• Obtaining and reviewing the management letter of representation

• Review of revised versions of the Annual Governance Statement and
• Updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the
opinion
We received draft financial statements at the commencement of our work, in
accordance with the national deadline.
Key audit and financial reporting issues
Financial statements opinion
The draft accounts recorded a retained comprehensive net expenditure of
£182.9 million. We have not identified any adjustments affecting the CCG's
outturn position for the year. A number of minor adjustments to improve the
presentation of the CCG's accounts have been made but these do not impact
on the outturn
The key messages arising from our audit of the CCG's financial statements are
as follows.
• we expect to issue an opinion which is unqualified in respect of the financial
statements.
• there are no unadjusted misstatements. All adjustments identified during the
• audit have been made within the final set of financial statements.
• the notes to the draft accounts were amended for a number of disclosure
errors.
• we recommended a number of adjustments to improve the presentation of
the accounts that have been made by the CCG.
Further details are set out in section 2 of this report.
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Regularity opinion
As well as an opinion on the accounts, we are required to give a regularity
opinion on whether expenditure has been incurred 'as intended by
Parliament'. Failure to meet statutory financial targets automatically results in
a qualified regularity opinion.
We are pleased to report that, based on our review of the CCG's expenditure we
propose to give an unqualified regularity opinion.
Value for money (VfM)
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy
ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are also required by the
Code to report any matters that prevent us being satisfied that the audited body
has put in place such arrangements.
We are pleased to report that, based on our review of the CCG's arrangements to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, we have no
detailed matters to report to the CCG. The CCG has delivered a balanced budget
but there are significant challenges ahead in delivering a long-term financially
sustainable commissioning strategy.

Further detail of our work on Value for Money is set out in section 3 of this
report.

Agreement of Balances and Whole of Government Accounts (WGA)
To date we have not identified any variances in the NHS agreement of balances
(AoB) process that will require reporting in our assurance letter to the National
Audit Office (NAO) for Whole of Government Accounts purposes.
The NAO has stated that where significant variances exist they may conduct
further detailed investigation.
Controls
Roles and responsibilities
The CCG's management is responsible for the identification, assessment,
management and monitoring of risk, and for developing, operating and
monitoring the system of internal control.
Internal Audit has carried out work on the systems and controls in place in
relation to the CSU and that work concluded that the cntrols in place were
sound. We have gained have gained assurance from this work and therefore
have not required a service auditor report.’
Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of
control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any
control weaknesses, we report these to the CCG.
Findings
We draw your attention in particular to control issues identified in relation to:
•

© 2014 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Audit Findings Report Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG | 5 June 2014

IT access controls – minor issues identified by our IT team requiring better
protection for IT access.
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The way forward
Matters arising from the financial statements audit and review of the CCG's
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources have been discussed with the Director of Finance.
We have made a small number of recommendations, which are set out in the
action plan. Recommendations have been discussed and agreed with the Director
of Finance and the finance team.
Acknowledgement
We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the
assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.
.

Grant Thornton UK LLP
3rd June 2014
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Audit findings

Audit findings against significant risks
"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, either due to size
or nature, and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement
uncertainty" (ISA 315).
In this section we detail our response to the significant risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan. As we noted in our plan, there are two
presumed significant risks which are applicable to all audits under auditing standards.

1.

Risks identified in our audit plan

Work completed

Improper revenue recognition

We have rebutted this presumption for Redditch &
Bromsgrove CCG because:

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that
revenue may be misstated due to the improper
recognition of revenue. Auditors may rebut this
presumption depending on the circumstances of
the audit.

•

revenue does not primarily involve cash transactions

•

revenue is principally an allocation from NHS England

Assurance gained and issues arising
Our audit work has not identified any issues in
respect of revenue recognition.

We therefore do not consider this to be a significant risk for
Redditch & Bromsgrove CCG.
As part of our audit work we have completed;
 review and testing of revenue recognition policies
 testing of material revenue stream .i.e. Revenue
Resource Limit Funding,
 review of unusual significant transactions

2.

Management override of controls

•

review of entity controls

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that the
risk of management over-ride of controls is
present in all entities.

•

review of accounting estimates, judgements and decisions
made by management

•

testing of journals entries

•

review of unusual significant transactions
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Our audit work has not identified any evidence
of management override of controls. In
particular the findings of our review of journal
controls and testing of journal entries has not
identified any significant issues.
We set out later in this section of the report our
work and findings on key accounting estimates
and judgements.
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Audit findings against other risks
In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan. Recommendations, together with management
responses are attached at appendix A.

Transaction cycle

Description of risk

Work completed

Secondary Care
Commissioning

Contract costs not accounted
for properly

We have undertaken the following work in relation to
this risk:
 Documentation of our understanding of processes
and key controls over the transaction cycle

Assurance gained & issues arising

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in
relation to the risk identified

 Walkthrough of the key controls to assess the
whether those controls are designed effectively
 Substantive testing of secondary healthcare costs
including:
 Substantive testing of contract payments.
 Review of year end secondary healthcare
expenditure totals and comparison to
budgets/contract values by provider
 Review of the results of the NHS agreement of
balances exercise

Secondary Care
Commissioning

Activity variation adjustments
to expenditures not correct

We have undertaken the following work in relation to
this risk:
 Documentation of our understanding of processes
and key controls over the transaction cycle

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in
relation to the risk identified

 Walkthrough of the key controls to assess the
whether those controls are designed effectively
 Substantive testing of healthcare expenditure,
including testing to activity statements and
verifying estimates for year end activity

© 2014 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Audit Findings Report Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG | 5 June 2014
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Audit findings against other risks
In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan. Recommendations, together with management
responses are attached at appendix A.

Transaction cycle

Description of risk

Work completed

Assurance gained & issues arising

Secondary Care
Commissioning

Invoiced non -contract costs
not accounted for properly

We have undertaken the following work in relation to
this risk:

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in
relation to the risk identified

 Documentation of our understanding of processes
and key controls over the transaction cycle
 Walkthrough of the key controls to assess the
whether those controls are designed effectively
 Substantive testing of invoiced healthcare
expenditure,, including testing categorisation of
expenditure and ensuring recognition in the
correct financial year.

© 2014 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Audit Findings Report Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG | 5 June 2014
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Accounting policies, Estimates & Judgements
In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies, and key estimates and judgements made and included
with the CCG's financial statements.
Accounting area

Summary of policy

Revenue recognition

Revenue

Judgements and estimates

Comments

 Revenue in respect of services provided
is recognised when and to the extent that
performance occurs and is measured at
the fair value of the consideration
receivable

The CCG does not have any significant revenue streams as a
commissioner and is not a provider of services.

 Where revenue has been received for a
specific activity to be delivered in the
following financial year, that income will
be deferred .

We concluded from our work on revenues that the CCG has applied
its stated policy

 The CCG has adopted the standard
accounting policies for the NHS as set out
in the Annual Reporting Guidance .

We have reviewed the CCG's estimates and judgements and
concluded that they have been compiled in accordance with the
Manual for Accounts.

 Estmates made are mainly accruals for
liabilities.
 The CCG has recorded no significant
judgements or estimations within their
accounting policies.
Other accounting policies

Assessment

 The CCG has adopted the standard
accounting policies for the NHS as set out
in the Annual Reporting Guidance

Assessment
 Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators
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The policy applied is the standard accounting policy for the NHS.





We have reviewed the CCG's judgements and estimations and
concluded that assumptions are not significant in value and do not
represent a material risk therefore the policy as shown in the
financial statements is correctly stated.
 We have reviewed the CCG's policies against the requirements
of the Manual for Accounts.



 A number of minor amendments have been made but there are
no significant issues to report.

 Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure

 Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient
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Adjusted misstatements
Our audit work did not identify any misstatements that required adjustment to the CCG's accounts for 2013/14
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Misclassifications & disclosure changes
The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements.

Adjustment type

Value
£'000

Account balance

1

Misclassification

5,900

Financial Instruments

2

Disclosure

-

Reconciliation

The financial statements have been amended to include a note to
reconcile the cash drawdown to parliamentary funding as required by
the Manual for Accounts.

3

Disclosure

-

Note 4.3 Staff Sickness
absence and ill health
retirements

The Department of Health had not supplied this information at the
time the draft accounts were produced. This information is now
available.

4

Disclosure

-

Financial performance
targets

This note has been promoted in the Financial Statements to reflect its
importance in reconciling the primary statements and reflecting the
CCGs out turn position.

5

Disclosure

-

Financial performance
targets

Entries have been amended to include figures and not narrative to
correctly reflect the performance of the CCG
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Impact on the financial statements
The Financial Instruments note incorrectly excluded accruals and
included deferred income and prepayments, which do not meet the
definition of a financial instrument and excluded other financial
liabilities that do meet the definition of a financial instrument.. This
understated:
• liabilities by £5.9m.
No other notes or balances are affected by this amendment.
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Misclassifications & disclosure changes
The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements.

Adjustment
type

Value
£'000

Account balance

Impact on the financial statements

6

Disclosure

-

Annual Governance
Statement

The wording included in the AGS suggested a voluntary adoption of
the UK Corporate Governance Code. This wording has been amended
to correctly reflect the codes adoption

7

Disclosure

-

Annual Report

The draft Annual Report was not consistent with the requirements of
the NHS England Guidance in a number of areas:
• The Annual Report did not contain a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties
• The Annual Report did not contain the main trends and factors
likely to affect the future development, performance and position of
the clinical commissioning group’s business.
• Details of the membership of the Remuneration Committee,
distinguishing the name of the Chair from the names of other
members (including dates of joining or leaving the committee where
membership has changes) had been omitted.

8

Disclosure

-

Miscellaneous

A number of disclosure amendments were made to the financial
statements due to matters identified during the course of the audit
including:
• a number of notes and entries in the accounts did not add value to
the reader as they contained zero entries or were not relevant to the
CCG
• other minor amendments have been made. None of these are
considered individually significant to warrant further disclosure.
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Misclassifications & disclosure changes
The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements.

Adjustment
type

Value
£'000

Account balance

Impact on the financial statements

9

Disclosure

23,660

Operating Expenditure
Prescribing

Original mapping classified prescribing as Supplies and services general.
Late guidance has been issued and prescribing costs have now been recoded to the prescribing line of note 5.

10

Disclosure

-

West midlands
Ambulance
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Incorrect mapping by SBS resulted in West Midlands Ambulance
Service being classified as an NHS Trust. This has been amended to
correctly record the expenditure with West Midlands Ambulance as
Foundation Trust. expenditure.

16

Audit findings

Unadjusted misstatements
There are no unadjusted misstatements. Late guidance has removed the need for total pension benefits to be included in the remuneration report.
The CCG have complied with revised guidance and included all notified amounts within their pension remuneration table.
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Internal controls
 The purpose of an audit is to express an opinion on the financial statements.
 Our audit included consideration of internal controls relevant to the preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control.
 There were no deficiencies identified during the course of our audit that are of sufficient importance to merit being reported to you in accordance with auditing
standards.
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Other communication requirements
We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards to communicate to those charged with governance.

Issue

Commentary

1.

Matters in relation to fraud

 We have not been made aware of any other incidents in the period and no other issues have been identified during the course of our
audit procedures

2.

Matters in relation to related
parties

 We are not aware of any related party transactions which have not been disclosed

3.

Matters in relation to laws and
regulations

 We are not aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

4.

Written representations

 A standard letter of representation has been requested from the CCG.

5.

Disclosures

 Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements

6.

Going Concern

 We have considered managements assessment of going concern. Our work has identified no significant issues in relation to going
concern.
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Value for Money

Value for Money

Value for money conclusion
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy
ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are also required by the
Code to report any matters that prevent us being satisfied that the audited body has
put in place such arrangements.

Key findings
Leadership
The CCG has a full Governing Body with an agreed constitution. Regular
meetings have been held throughout the year and sub-committees established to
support the Governing body. Additional lay members have been recruited to
support the Audit Committee.

In recognition that CCGs are new organisations, the Audit Commission has not
specified reporting criteria for the VfM conclusion at CCGs for 2013/14. We will
give our VfM conclusion on the basis of:
• reviewing the CCG's annual governance statement
• reviewing the results of the work of relevant regulatory bodies or inspectorates
(including NHS England reviews), to consider whether there is any impact on
our responsibilities
• undertaking other local risk based work as required, or any work mandated by
the Audit Commission, including a review of the arrangements for the Better
Care Fund.

It has strengthened its internal governance arrangements, taking account of the
work undertaken by Grant Thornton on Conflicts of Interest.

In order to identify whether any local work is required, we have undertaken a risk
assessment against the following key themes identified in the Audit Commission's
guidance:
• leadership
• commissioning
• financial planning and management
• data quality
• external relationships.
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Commissioning and Data Quality
Going forward management of the CCG's commissioning contracts are critical
to ensure financial stability and delivery of the CCG's objectives. The CCG has
established governance and performance management arrangements to enable it
to understand and govern its affairs. Throughout 2013/14 regular contract
monitoring sessions have been held with providers and the CCGs have been
working together to resolve issues.
The Worcestershire health economy as a whole faces significant challenges and
the CCG has submitted to Arbitration in respect of contract discussions with
the local Worcestershire Acute NHS Trust. The three CCGs in Worcestershire
therefore have work to do to develop a long term commissioning strategy which
delivers long-term financial resilience as well as implementing QIPP challenges.
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Value for Money

Key findings continued
Financial Management
In 2013/14 the CCG did not achieve its planned surplus of £ 1.8m but did achieve
a surplus of £0.77m.. The CCG set a QIPP target £3.5m but has not reviewed the
year end position. The QIPP requirement was top sliced from budgets and
monitoring was limited to review of the year end position. The CCG should assess
progress against the target for the 2014/15 year by in-year monitoring.
External Relationships
Effective external relationships are essential to enable the CCG to both understand
the needs of the population and ensure effective commissioning. We have
considered external relationships with other CCGs, the Commissioning Support
Unit (CSU), NHS England and those involved in the Better Care Fund.
Throughout the year, the CCG has worked with its other local CCGs and the CSU
and will continue to seek improvements to the contract and to ensure it achieves
value for money from the CSU going forward.

The local BCF plan is a strategic high level plan which sets out the joint vision
.
and aspirations. We have reviewed progress on the implementation of the Better
Care Fund at each of the CCGs in Worcestershire as well as the local authority
and local Trusts The CCG and Worcestershire County Council are aware that the
plan needs to be developed into robust operational plans to ensure the vision and
aspirations become a reality. A plan is in place for 2013-14 but there will be a step
change in introducing the expanded arrangements in 2014-15. There is a need to
engage the local Trusts more effectively in the process for 2014-15
The BCF plan includes both national and local outcomes and metrics. The CCG
and Worcestershire County Council, through the programme board, need to
consider what additional metrics are required to monitor and ensure delivery.
Overall VfM conclusion
On the basis of our work, and having regard to the guidance published by the
Audit Commission, we have concluded that there are no matters which we are
required to report.

As part of our VfM work we have also considered the work undertaken by the
CCG in partnership with others to agree and develop the local Better Care Fund
(BCF) Plan. We are able to conclude that the CCG to date has achieved the
timescale and assurance requirements set by NHS England.
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Appendices

Appendix A: Action plan
Priority
High - Significant effect on control system
Medium - Effect on control system
Low - Best practice

Rec
No.

Recommendation

Priority

Management response

Implementation date &
responsibility

Value for Money

The CCG should pick up any learning
points from the Grant Thornton work on
conflicts of interest

Low

The CCG needs to continue to work with
the local Acute Trust to seek to resolve
contract discussions by dialogue rather
than by Arbitration

High

The CCG needs to work with its partners
to develop a long term sustainable
commissioning strategy.

High

The CCG needs to develop in year
monitoring arrangements to enabl robust
review the delivery of its QIPP schemes.

Medium

The CCG and the County Council need to
ensure that the local Trusts are more
actively involved in the development of the
2014-15 BCF Plan which represent a step
change in relation to the 2013-14 Plan.

Medium
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Fees, non audit services and independence

Fees, non audit services and independence
We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.
In relation the Audit Fee, our audit plan set out a number of assumptions about access to CSU staff and records and the provision of supporting schedules to all figures in
the accounts (to be supplied by agreed dates). In practice significant additional work had to be undertaken as working papers were not in all instances adequate or
comprehensive and access to CSU staff was limited at some points. As a result an additional fee is likely to be charged. This has been discussed in principal but will be
subject to the final approval of the Director of Finance and the approval of the Audit Commission.

Fees
£

CCG audit
Total audit fees (excluding VAT)

Fees for other services

66,000
66,000

Service

Fees
£

Review of arrangements to manage conflicts of interest Redditch & Bromsgrove CCG

7,500

Independence and ethics

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors
that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the Auditing Practices
Board's Ethical Standards and therefore we confirm that we are independent and are able to express an
objective opinion on the financial statements.
We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the
Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards.
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Communication of audit matters

Communication of audit matters to those charged with governance
International Standards on Auditing (ISA) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe matters
which we are required to communicate with those charged with governance, and which
we set out in the table opposite.
The Audit Plan outlined our audit strategy and plan to deliver the audit, while this Audit
Findings report presents the key issues and other matters arising from the audit, together
with an explanation as to how these have been resolved.

Respective responsibilities
The Audit Findings Report has been prepared in the context of the Statement of
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the Audit Commission
(www.audit-commission.gov.uk).
We have been appointed as the CCG's independent external auditors by the Audit
Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public bodies
in England. As external auditors, we have a broad remit covering finance and
governance matters.
Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice ('the
Code') issued by the Audit Commission and includes nationally prescribed and locally
determined work. Our work considers the CCG's key risks when reaching our
conclusions under the Code.
It is the responsibility of the CCG to ensure that proper arrangements are in place for the
conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted
for. We have considered how the CCG is fulfilling these responsibilities.
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Our communication plan

Audit
Plan

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those
charged with governance



Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing
and expected general content of communications



Audit
Findings



Views about the qualitative aspects of the entity's accounting and
financial reporting practices, significant matters and issues arising
during the audit and written representations that have been sought
Confirmation of independence and objectivity





A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, relationships and other
matters which might be thought to bear on independence.





Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and
network firms, together with fees charged
Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence
Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit



Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or
others which results in material misstatement of the financial
statements



Compliance with laws and regulations



Expected modified auditor's report



Uncorrected misstatements



Significant matters arising in connection with related parties



Significant matters in relation to going concern
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Appendix A: Audit opinion
We anticipate we will provide the CCG with a unmodified audit report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF REDDITCH
AND BROMSGROVE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
We have audited the financial statements of Redditch and Bromsgrove Clinical Commissioning
Group for the year ended 31 March 2014 under the Audit Commission Act 1998. The financial
statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of
Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows
and the related notes.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and
the accounting policies directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the
Secretary of State.
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit, being:
·

the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers [and related narrative notes] on page x

·

the table of pension benefits of senior managers [and related narrative notes] on page y

·

the table of pay multiples [and related narrative notes] on page z.

This report is made solely to the members of Redditch and Bromsgrove Clinical Commissioning
Group in accordance with Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose,
as set out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies
published by the Audit Commission in March 2014.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)'s members and the CCG as a body, for our audit
work, for this report, or for opinions we have formed.
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Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
Those standards also require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards
for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the CCG; and the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report which
comprises the Member Practices' Introduction, Strategic Report, Members' Report and
Remuneration Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements
and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit.
If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the
implications for our report.
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes
intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern
them.
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Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income have been applied to the purposes
intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them2.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
· give a true and fair view of the financial position of Redditch and Bromsgrove Clinical Commissioning
Group as at 31 March 2014 and of its net operating costs for the year then ended; and
· have been prepared properly in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the NHS
Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State.
Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
· the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been prepared properly in accordance with the
requirements directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State3; and
· the information given in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
Matters on which we report by exception
We report to you if4:
·

in our opinion the governance statement does not reflect compliance with NHS England’s Guidance;

· we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 19 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 because
we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision
involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or
deficiency; or
·

we issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 1998.
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Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that the
CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use
of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires us to report
any matters that prevent us being satisfied that the audited body has put in place such
arrangements.
We have undertaken our audit in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to
the guidance issued by the Audit Commission in October 2013. We have considered the results
of the following:
·

our review of the Governance Statement;

· the work of other relevant regulatory bodies or inspectorates, to the extent that the results of
this work impact on our responsibilities at the CCG; and
·

locally determined risk-based work on the Better Care Fund.

As a result, we have concluded that there are no matters to report.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Redditch and Bromsgrove
Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission
Act 1998 and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission.

Phil W Jones
Director
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor
Appointed Auditor
Colmore Plaza
20 Colmore Circus
Birmingham B4 6AT
5 June 2014
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NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG
External Audit Opinion Report 2013/14

Appendix E

NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG
Annual Internal Audit Report 2013/14
and Head of Internal Audit Opinion

cw audit services

Redditch and Bromsgrove
CCG
Annual Internal Audit Report 2013/14
and Head of Internal Audit Opinion
May 2014

Getting value from your service

1 Key messages
Introduction
This annual report provides my opinion as the Head of Internal
Audit to Redditch and Bromsgrove Clinical Commissioning
Group (the CCG). It also summarises the activities of Internal
Audit for the period 1st April 2013 to 31st March 2014.
The requirement for me to give an annual opinion is specified in
the guidance issued by the Department of Health. This requires
me to give one opinion based on my views of:




your overall arrangements for gaining assurance i.e. the
Assurance Framework;
the work carried out by Internal Audit during the year on the
effectiveness of the management of those principal risks
identified within your Assurance Framework;
any reliance that is being placed upon third party assurances.

These opinions form part of the overall arrangements put in
place by the Board to produce their Annual Governance
Statement (AGS).
The Board should consider my opinion, together with
management assurances, its own knowledge of the organisation
and assurances received throughout the year from other review
bodies (such as the Care Quality Commission and External
Audit) when producing its Annual Governance Statement.

CW Audit Services
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Board

Risk
management
objective
achieved

Risk
management
objective not
achieved

Assurance gap

Acceptable
assurance /

Deficiency in risk
response / control

Lack of evidence

risk managed

ASSURANCE
Audit Committee & other governance committees
Coordination and evaluation of assurances to the Board
Internal Audit

Management

Third parties
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Internal audit opinion

 Payroll

My overall opinion is that significant assurance can be given
that there is a generally sound system of internal control,
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls
are generally being applied consistently. However, some
weaknesses in the design and/or inconsistent application of
controls put the achievement of particular objectives at risk.
I am also required to conclude on whether the CCG has secured
proper arrangements to manage risk. It is my view that an
Assurance Framework has been established which is designed
and operating to meet the requirements of the 2013/14 Annual
Governance Statement and provide reasonable assurance that
there is an effective system of internal control to manage the
principal risks identified by the organisation.

Delivery of the internal audit plan
My opinion is based on the audit work performed as set out in
the 2013/14 internal audit plan agreed by the Audit Committee. I
delivered an agreed plan of 84 days.
A summary of the work we have performed and delivery
against the plan is provided in Section 3.

My full Head of Internal Audit Opinion is provided in Section
2.

Commentary on the system of internal control
My opinion takes into account the range of individual opinions
arising from risk-based audit assignments that have been
reported throughout the year. An Internal Audit Plan for 2013/14
was developed to provide you with independent assurance on
the adequacy and effectiveness of systems of control across a
range of financial and organisational areas.
I provided significant or moderate assurance across the majority
of audit assignments undertaken this year. There was, however,
one area where we provided limited assurance.

CW Audit Services
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2 Annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion
HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION ON THE EFFECTIVENESS
OF THE SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL AT NHS REDDITCH
AND BROMSGROVE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP (CCG)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014

Roles and responsibilities

with management and approved by the Audit Committee, which should
provide a reasonable level of assurance, subject to the inherent
limitations described below.
The opinion does not imply that Internal Audit have reviewed all risks
and assurances relating to the organisation. The opinion is
substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans generated
from a robust and organisation-led Assurance Framework. As such, it
is one component that the Governing Body takes into account in
making its AGS.
The Head of Internal Audit Opinion

The Governing Body is collectively accountable for maintaining a
sound system of internal control and is responsible for putting in place
arrangements for gaining assurance about the effectiveness of that
overall system.
The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is an annual statement by
the Accountable Officer, on behalf of the Governing Body, setting out:

The purpose of my annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the
assurances available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing
Body which underpin the Governing Body’s own assessment of the
effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. This
Opinion will in turn assist the Governing Body in the completion of its
AGS.



My opinion is set out as follows:




how the individual responsibilities of the Accountable Officer are
discharged with regard to maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of policies, aims and
objectives;
the purpose of the system of internal control as evidenced by a
description of the risk management and review processes,
including the Assurance Framework process;
the conduct and results of the review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control including any disclosures of significant
control failures together with assurances that actions are or will be
taken where appropriate to address issues arising.

The organisation’s Assurance Framework should bring together all of
the evidence required to support the AGS requirements.
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of
Internal Audit (HoIA) is required to provide an annual opinion, based
upon and limited to the work performed, on the overall adequacy and
effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and
governance processes (i.e. the organisation’s system of internal
control). This is achieved through a risk-based plan of work, agreed

CW Audit Services

Page 3

1. Overall opinion;
2. Basis for the opinion;
3. Commentary.
My overall opinion is that significant assurance can be given that
there is a generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet
the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being
applied consistently. However, some weakness in the design and/or
inconsistent application of controls, put the achievement of particular
objectives at risk.
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning
Assurance Framework and supporting processes; and
2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from
risk-based audit assignments contained within internal audit
risk-based plans that have been reported throughout the year.
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This assessment has taken account of the relative materiality
of these areas and management’s progress in respect of
addressing control weaknesses.
3. Any reliance that is being placed upon third party assurances.

control to manage the principal risks identified by the organisation. We
have identified further improvements to the system to address any
areas of concern and we have completed a workshop with the
Governing Body to assist the CCG to strengthen their current
arrangements.

The commentary below provides the context for my opinion and
together with the opinion should be read in its entirety.

The range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit
assignments, contained within risk-based plans that have been
reported throughout the year.

The design and operation of the Assurance Framework and
associated processes.

My opinion also takes into account the range of individual opinions
arising from risk-based audit assignments that have been reported
throughout the year. An internal audit plan for 2013/14 was developed to
provide you with independent assurance on the adequacy and
effectiveness of systems of control across a range of financial and
organisational areas. To achieve this our internal audit plan was divided
into two broad categories; work on the financial systems that underpin
your financial processing and reporting and then broader risk focused
work driven essentially by principal risk areas that you had identified in
your Assurance Framework. A summary of work undertaken is included
below:

I have reviewed the overall arrangements the Governing Body has in
place to conduct its review of the system of internal control. This has
entailed reviewing the way in which the Governing Body has identified
the principal risks to achieving its objectives, the identification of
controls in operation to mitigate against these risks and the degree to
which the organisation has received assurances that these issues are
being controlled. I have approached this by examining the Assurance
Framework documents that you have in place and also by giving
consideration to the wider reporting to the Governing Body that would
assure them on the effectiveness of the system of internal control.
In this, its first year of operation, the CCG has developed its
Assurance Framework document during the course of the financial
year. It is acknowledged that this is work in progress and the
Assurance Framework is currently a combined risk register containing
all risks facing the CCG. Over the period of its development, we have
sought to confirm that the ongoing and developing framework for
assurance has provided reasonable assurance to the Governing Body
regarding the effectiveness of internal control.
In this context, it is my view that an Assurance Framework (and
associated assurance processes that have been in place during the
course of the year) has been established which is designed and
operating to meet the requirements of the 2013/14 AGS and provides
reasonable assurance that there is an effective system of internal

CW Audit Services
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During the year we have undertaken reviews of the input and
output controls within your core financial systems and given
significant assurance for Financial Systems and Healthcare
Commissioning with regard to the management of risk in these
areas.



However, we did raise concerns with regard to the effectiveness of
controls over Payroll where limited assurance was provided in our
initial assessment.



We have undertaken a number of pieces of work on areas of
principal risk and reviews requested during the year. In general we
have been able to conclude that these systems are robust and
operate in a good control environment.



However, we did raise concerns with regard to the effectiveness of
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some of the controls over the Continuing Healthcare and Mental
Health Placement Budgets were moderate assurance was provided.


We have agreed action plans with management in relation to these
moderate and limited assurance areas and continue to monitor the
implementation of those plans.

It is my view, taking account of the respective levels of assurance
provided for each audit review, an assessment of the relevant weighting
of each individual assignment and the extent to which agreed actions
have been implemented, that you have a generally sound system of
internal control.

Reliance on third party assurances
In arriving at my overall opinion I have sought to place reliance on third
party assurances received from:


NHS Shared Business Services through the provision of a year-end
Service Audit Report

CW Audit Services
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3. Work undertaken 2013/14

Review

Level of assurance

Delivery of the plan
Our internal audit plan was agreed at the start of the financial
year by the Audit Committee.

Payroll

Limited

Summary of assurances provided
During the course of the year we have conducted work to provide
assurance over financial, governance and operational systems.
The following tables summarise the assurance levels we have
given:
Review

Level of assurance

Assurance Framework

Advisory

Information Governance

Advisory

Healthcare Commissioning

Significant*

Financial Systems

Significant

Financial reporting and
QIPP Delivery
Financial Strategy and
QIPP
Safeguarding

Significant

Performance Management
/ Commissioning
Outcomes Framework
Continuing Healthcare

Significant

Mental Health Placement
Budget

Moderate

CW Audit Services

Payroll Follow Up
November 2013
Payroll Follow Up March
2014
Complex Children’s Follow
Up
BAF Workshops and
Support and Advice

Moderate
Significant
Significant
Advisory

*Draft report awaiting finalisation
The CCG should consider the points that have been identified
through our work to determine whether any issues require
disclosure in the AGS. A summary of the points that resulted in
us providing limited or moderate overall opinions are set out
below:
Limited Assurance:
Payroll
The review raised concerns with regard to the effectiveness of
controls over Payroll where we provided limited assurance for
controls in operation between April and August 2013. This
moved to moderate assurance for controls in place over the
period September to November 2013 and significant assurance
for the period December 2013 to March 2014.

Significant
Significant

Moderate
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